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Zephyr Midco 2 Limited

Strategic report

For the year ended 30 September 2020

The Directors present their Strategic report of Zephyr Midco 2 Limited (*Midco 2” or “the Company”) and its subsidiaries (together
“the Group”) for the year ended 30 September 2020. Previously, the financial statements were prepared from the incorporation
of the entity on the 4 May 2018 to 30 September 2019.

This Strategic report has been prepared to provide shareholders of the Company with additional information to assess the
Company’s strategies and the potential for those strategies to succeed. The Strategic report contains certain forward-looking
statements. These statements are made by the Directors in good faith based on the information available to them up to the time
of their approval of this report and such statements should be treated with caution due to the inherent uncertainties, including
both economic and business risk factors, underlying any such forward-looking information.

The Directors, in preparing this Strategic report, have complied with s414C of the Companies Act 2006.

Principal activities
The principal activities of the Group in the pericd under review were the operation of online property portals and household

comparison websites as well as providing residential property software and data analytics. The Group's operations comprise
Property and Comparison divisions, both of which generate revenues through services described below.

s

Property

Comparison

Marketing, which represents revenue generated from the
provision of marketing services including portal and print
revenues; :

Software, which represents revenue generated from the
provision of software services focused on property
professionals and websites; and

Data, which represents revenue generated from the
provision of residential property data, insight and
analysis.

Energy, which represents revenue generated from
energy switching services, business energy and boiler
cover,

Communications, which represents revenue generated
from mobile, broadband, pay TV and home phone
switching services; and

Finance, which represents revenue generated from
financial product switching services including loans and
credit cards.

The principal activity of the Company was to act as a holding company for the Group’s consolidated business and as a reporting
entity per the Group’s debt facilities.

Business model and strategy

The Group owns and operates some of the UK's most trusted property and household related digital brands including Zoopla,
uSwitch, PrimeLocation, Money, Hometrack and The Property Software Group as well as Calcasa in the Netherlands. The
Group's proposition helps consumers and partners across the property lifecycle.

The Group drives growth by investing in people, products and marketing to create the most innovative and: engaging home
related platforms which help deliver greater transparency for consumers and provide increased efficiency for partners throughout
the property lifecycle. The two-sided proposition benefits from powerful network effects, which, in tum, generate increased
engagement and an enhanced consumer and partner proposition.

Consumers Partners
Able to access near whole of market data with real-time alerts Benefit from access to a highly engaged audience via the
to remain up to date and make the most informed decisions Group's market-leading property and comparison portals,
about everything related to finding, moving or managing their generate additional revenues and deliver better service by
homes. using the Group’s software and data insights.
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Strategic report (continued)
For the year ended 30 September 2020

Business and finance review

Zephyr Midco 2 Limited (“Midco”) was incorporated on 4 May 2018 and was dormant until its subsidiary Zephyr Bidco Limited
{Bidco”)-completed its-acquisition:of ZPG:Plc.on 11 July2018.

The Group reported revenue of £288.8 million (2019 (15 months period): £383.6 million) of which £279.7 million (2019 (15 months
period): £372.1 million) was in the UK and £9.1 million (2019 (15 months period): £11.5 miliion) in the Netherlands.

In the year ended 30 September 2020, the Group offered free period contracts to its agents at the beginning of the Covid-19
pandemic (April and May 2020) in exchange for its agents committing to long term contracts.

The Group made an operating profit of £18.9 million (2019 (15 months period): loss of £17.0 million) after depreciation,
amortisation -and-acquisition-related .costs. The-Group:generated.operating.cash-flows -before working-capital-of £140.6- mnlhon'
(2019 (15 months period): £150.7 million). See note 3 for disclosure of costs accounting within operating loss. ’

The Group made a total comprehensive loss for the period of £47.4 million (2019 (15 months period): comprehensive loss of
£107-9-million)-after-interest-and income-tax.

Key Financial Performance Indicators (KPls)
The Group’s primary financial KPIs are revenue, profit, and operating cash.

. Net debt and borrowings
As at 30 September 2020 the Group had net debt of £806.8 million (2019: £808.4 million) after capitalised loan fees, which is
defined as loans and borrowings less cash-and-cash -equivalents- and -other short-term investments- as- per the- statement-of
~ financial position.

In addition to the term loans, the Group also has access to a revolving credit facility of £150 million as part of the same debt
arrangement, which-can-be-accessed:by the:Group. -As-at 30 September 2020, this -facility was .undrawn. :Refer to-Note-19-for-
more details on the Group’s loans and borrowings.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets have been valued by an independent expert following the acquisition of ZPG Plc and are shown at net book
value of £2 589m (2019: £2,660m) following amortisation of acquired intangibles over the period since acquisition. The details of
intangible-assets-are-set.out in:Note 12..Impairment analysis: concludes that the:camying:values.do:not.require-impairment.

Cash flow

The Group continues to be highly cash generative with net cash flows from operating activities of £86.2 million (2019 (15 months
period):-£87-8:million): Net:cash:outflows frominvesting activities were-£29:6 million(2019-(15 months period): £2,264:7 million);
whilst net cash outflows from financing activities were £52.1 million (2019 (15 months period): inflow of £2,277 .4 million) leaving,
a cash and other short-term investments of £114.9 million (2019: cash of £100.5 million) as at 30 September 2020.

Key performance indicators (KPls)

The Group measures its performance through the following financial and non-financial KPIs. .

2019 (15 months
2020 b é)
Revenue £288.8m £383.6m
Total Comprehensive Loss for the period  £(47.4)m £(107.9)m
Visits" 778 million 700 million
Leads? 51 million 54 million

"Visits comprise individual sessions to the Group’s websites or mobile applications by users for the year as measured by Google Analytics.

2| eads are measured at the point when a consumer shows intent to contact or switch, for property and comparison respectively via a form hosted
on the Company’s website.
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Strategic report (continuea)
For the year.ended 30 September-2020

Our work in the community

We' uridérstand ‘that we "have ‘a responsibility t0 make 'a positivé ‘impact on our” environment, for chiarity and for our local
communities.

We continue to be strong supporters of small charities that serve local communities and in 2020 we raised over£25,000, these

were spread:-over a number of good:causes including Crisis'Homelessness; Great.North.Air Ambulance Service, .Comwall Air
Trisst and St. Richards Hospital Trust, plus multiple smaller-charities;

Beyond fundraising efforts taking place by individual teams and colleagues, we also helps support its charity partners through a
number of initiatives:

Donationh:Matching: We will match up to £500 per employee, per year, raised from fundraising évents and-activitiés in-aid-of its’
six employee-nominated charity partners, and up to £250 per employee, per year, for any other charity.

-Good-Deed-Day: Employees are entitied to a‘full day's annual leave to volunteer for a registered charity-or-non-profit organisation”
that is close to their heart.

Payroll Giving: We match employees' monthly donations to charity by up to £40 a month for its main charity partners, or up to
£20/month for any other charity.

We want our people to feel supported, motivated and inspired across everything they do.
We believe.our transformative leaming culture is ‘one of our defining features:and:aim:to foster in‘our people a thirst for knowledge,

ezgomocy o loom and g tom (e cpportunities to-thrive: This is highlighted by the fact we:are on:the Govemment Register
of Approved Training Prowders

Diversity, .equity-and inclusion iis.at the heart of our-culture. We are making constant:assessments to.ensure we provide equal
and: fair access for all. We believe that all curent and:future emplovess chouldihaus fair andomeonl —ooo o0 (0 2o —osomiine
regardless of age, sexual orientation, gender, disability, race, nationality, ethnic origin, trade union affiliation, belief or religion.

Human rights are:not a matenialissue for the comnany: Ag-euch, there are noincidents or necessary actions to:report.

Gender mix across the Group as at 30th September 2020

Number Percentage
-Female “Male Female Male
| Directors 10 3 1 0% 1 100%
Senior Management 33 63 34% 66%
1 All Employees 1 391 541 42% 1 58%:
Gender mix across the Group as at 30th September 2019
" Number " Percentage
Female ~— = [Malee | Female | Male
Directors 0 5 0% 100%
Senior Management 29" 65 131% 1 69%
| Al Employees 357 .1 500 42% 58%

Risk management, intemal contro! and principal risks

The Company'’s internal contro! framework is-aligned to the “three lines-of defence” mode!: Operational-Management are the first
line 2nd they are primarily responsible for the: direct management of risk, ensuring that appropriate’ mitigating controls: are: in,
place and that they are operating effectively. The second line is formed of the Company’s internal governance functions such as
compliance, commercial-finance, legal; .intemal controls :and risk: The third line .includes :other third-party advicors and evnerts
and:any.other independent consultants reporting o - Dol

Risk is managed functionally and at a consolidated Group level. This structure enables the Company to ensure that risks are
idantifiad anrncg He ronna of onerations: The.risks .are then:.escalated:.in.a:manner which is:consistent.and aligned-with-the
loalcgic goals:

The Group will continue to assess its risk manggement processes to ensure that they remain fit for‘ purpose.
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Strategic report (continued)
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Risk management, internal control and principal risks (continued)

The Group maintains a strategic risk register which is reviewed regularly by the Directors. The likelihood and impact of each risk
are both scored and combined to provide an overall risk score. Each risk within the register is scored twice: firstly, excluding the
-existence-of mitigating -controls (the-inherent risk score) and then again-once-mitigating :controls have-been taken into-account
(the residual risk score). The difference between these scores allows Management and the Directors to gain an understanding
of the level of control the Company has over each risk. )

The analysis contained within the risk register forms the basis of the principal risks and uncertainties detailed below. The risk
factors -described are not an-exhaustive list .or an-explanation .of-all risks. -Additional’ risks -and-uncertainties -relating to -the-
Company, including those that are not currently known to the Company or that the Company currently deems immaterial, may
individually or cumulatively also have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business operations, resuits and / or financial

-condition.

Key risk

Description and impact

Management and mitigation

Macroeconomic conditions

The Company derives a
material share of its revenues
from the UK, with the only
-international-operation-in-the-
Netherlands being a small
component of the revenue. The
Company is therefore largely
dependent.on the
macroeconomic conditions in
the UK as well as being
-exposed-to:.changes-in
macroeconomic conditions
internationally.

Changes in the UK and European and
economies -have-the potential-to adversely
impact the demand for our products and
services in the markets we operate in. Such
changes could affect the average property

prices, the number.of mortgage approvals.and.

the volume of transactions in the UK housing
market.

Subsequently, the marketing, data and
software purchasing budgets of the
Company’s partners could decrease, which
could reduce demand for the Company’s
services.

Specific considerations on withdrawal of UK
from the European Union have been outlined
on page 5.

Impact of Covid-19 could see lockdowns
within the UK and lead to disruption in the
housing market. Whilst the pandemic has had

an.impact.on.the-Group's financial -

performance, this was primarily due to a
strategic decision made to invest in its
customers through the free of charge

-contracts.-There has been.no-change.in the-

Group’s business model, underlying
operations or overall strategy as a result of
Covid-19 and the Director's remain assured of

.the.Group's.strong.financial.position.and -

prospects.

« Regularly reviewing market conditions and
indicators.

» Analysis performed by CFO and intemal Controls
Manager to understand the risks of Brexit to Property
division and the mitigating actions required.

-+-Building.consumer.and parntner brand loyalty-with.a
business model based on subscription.

« Maintaining a flexible cost base that can respond to
changing conditions.

-». Diversifying.risk.by maintaining.a.balance-between-

different revenue streams in order to provide
protection against volatility within markets.
«-Developing revenue streams in-other-related-/-
adjacent markets.
» Promoting the benefit and potentia! savings for
consumers. of home.and.financial.services switching--
« Investing in the web portal to enhance the estate
agents’ experience.’

Competitive environment

The Company operates in
market places which are highly
competitive. The actions of the
Company’s competitors, and / or
our own inaction, can have a
significant and adverse impact
-onthe-Company:

If new or existing competitors can provide, or
are perceived to provide, an enhanced partner
or consumer service then there is a risk to the
Company’s forecasted revenue. The Company
invests significantly in marketing to build brand
awareness and drive traffic to its websites.

Increased digital'marketing‘expenditure by

competitors, or general price increases, may

cause the Company to.incur.additional

marketing spend to ensure that it can continue
to compete effectively.

-

o Ensuring partners understand the unique value
_proposition that can be provided through our
websites, products and services.

o Offering attractive and competitive pricing packages
to partners.

« Diversifying risk through multiple revenue streams

« The Property division is targely subscription based
and is therefore less susceptible to short tem
fluctuations in the market.
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Key risk

Description and impact

Management and mitigation

Integration of acquisitions

_Historically, the-Company has
presents inherent operational,
strategic and cultural
challenges.

The challériges’ surrouriding intégrating
different cultares,; working practices and”
locations could impact team retention and

performance.

The inability to successfuily integrate
acquisitions may adversely afféct consurier
and Y or pariner experience with aresulting’
impact on strategic cross-sell opportunities
and the Company’s future revenues.

n-addition, there is'the possibility that the”
financial and operational control environments
of acquired éntities are not as éstablished as
those-of the-Company.

« Centralised shared service functions across grolip
finaihce, facilities and 17.

o Functions within the organisation, particularly. shared
services, have focused on aligning processes. and
systems.

« Projects initiated to develop a streamlined approach
across the various segiments for prodicts-and
techriotogy.

« Communicating the benefits of acquisitions to both
partners and consumers.

IT systems and cyber security

Various IT systems within the
Company are interdependent
and-afailire iri oné system or'a’
security breach may disrupt the
efficiency and functioning of the
Company’s operations.

The Company holds consumer
and partner data which could be
susceptible to loss or theft.

Any failure of the Company’s T infrastructure
through error or attack could impair the
ppe(a_t_iqn of the Company’s websites and
and the day-to-day management of the
Coempany’s-business:

In addition, any theft or misuse of data held
within the Company’s databases could have
both reputational and financial impfications for
thé Company.

« Regularly testing the security. of the IT systems and
platforms, including penetration testing and testing.of
Distributed Denial of Service (DDoS) attack -
procedures.

«"Maintaining separate platforms for portals; websites;
seftware:and data Senviges.

» Restricting access to data, systems and code and
ensuring all systems are secure and up to date.

The Company is susceptible to
an extemal hack which coutd
lead to aloss of data, including
personally identifiable
information (Pit).

Thé Coipaiy holds Pll data 'in various

systems, therefore any fossof data through-an

external or internal hack could fead to a
significant financial and / or reputational
damage.

o Experienced Head:of IT.in. place to reviéw the”
security environment.

o Voluntarily engaged independent experts to perform
a data governance audit.

« Training schemes being coordinated related to data
hacks / govemnance.

» Business Contmulty Plan being coordinated ensuring
mitigation plans are formalised inthe-évernit of @ data
hack.

Data protection”

Non-compliance with various
<ata pretection related acts
could-tead-to-significant
penatties for the organisation

Data protection entails various’ elements such
asensmin’g‘e’oinpﬁamewtﬂ\ GDPR; cookie”
laws, and direct marketing.

. Data protection officer ("DPO") positions in both’

divisions.

o Privacy plan formatised by DPO.

» Independent experts engaged.to.independently
assess data govemance structure.

» Training for wider business being coordinated for
data protection.

Retention and recruitment

Success depends on the
continued retention and’
performance of the-Company’s
valued employees. Skilled
development technical,
operating, sales and marketing
personnel are essential for the
business to meet its strategic
goals and the Company
-operates-in markets with a high
demand for high calibre
personnel.

Competition for qualified talent is intense and
an inability to attract highly skilled employees
could adversely impact thé Company's
operations, financial condition or prospects.

Similarly, an inability to motivate, develop and
retain key team members could adversely
impact the Company’s operations, financiai
condition and prospects.

The Company has a track record of growth
through acquisition — an inability to retain key
team members from these businesses.could
increase business risk in the event of reliance
on their business-critical knowledge.

* Reorganisation and expansion of the Talent team,
including hiring of more senior talent members.

o Terms havé been anénded for agencies to”
positively impact recrisitment process;

e Careers website running. for both divisions.

o New schemes launched to define purpose and
behaviours.

o Share schemes in place to improve staff retention.

# Regular and ongoing leaming & development
activities field across the Company.

o The Group has utilised the Furlough scheme
provided as part of the government business support
scheme during the Covid-19 pandemic.
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Key risk

Description and impact

Management and mitigation

Regulatofy environment

The Company operates in a
number of regulated
environments. Certain revenue
streams-within-the .Comparison
division are regulated by the
FCA.

There is a risk that changes to the regulatory

:environment:could-require-the:Companyto

revise its strategy, operations or business
model. . .

Changes.in.regulation . may.also.impact the.
Company’s profitability via increased
compliance costs or a fall in revenues as a
result of subsequent changes in consumer or
partnerbehaviour.

« Maintaining regular open and constructive dialogue

" -with-all-significant regulatory-bodies:

« Dedicated regulatory team in-house.

o Implementing processes to ensure compliance with
all mandatory reporting obligations including a
dedicated-Regulation and-Compliance team..

« Regular monitoring of regulatory risks by the Board,
the Audit Committee, the legal function and internal
contro} and throughout the business.

Reputational and brand
damage

The Company operates several
identifiable and respected
‘brands which couid be
damaged by factors such as
unethical or unlawful activity,
poor customer service or
‘negative press.

Damage to any of the Company’s brands

‘could-tead*toa-fall'in consumer'confidence,

reducing traffic and leads for the Company’s
-partners and in-tum-impacting the Company’s
revenue.

There is also a risk that the Company’s
partners may choose to terminate their
existing relationship with the Company as a
result of any reputational damage, which
would directly impact the Company’s
revenues.

« Embedding a culture of transparency, social
awareness ‘and-ethical*behaviour:throughout'the
Company.

-« Regulary reviewing the-Company'srisks and"
reviewing and developing internal contro!
frameworks to mitigate the risk of error or fraud.

« Executing the Company’s strategy, which has both
consumers and the Company’s partners at its core..

« Continually investing in the Company’s brands.

Foreign exchange risk

Potential Foreign Exchange
volatility-due-to-macroeconomic
factors which impacts the
business.

Since the result of the Brexit referendum,
Sterling has devalued due to the uncertainty in
the macroeconomic environment. This has
significance as the-Group.issued-€
denominated debt. Along with some supplier
payments, interest is paid in €.

o Close monitoring of the EUR v GBP currency
exposure in Finance team.

e Spot rate trading being put in place to minimise
‘Sterling outflows on interest and supplier payments.
e Hedging strategy being implemented.

‘Macroeconomic conditions - Withdrawal from the European Union

The result of the UK's ‘EU referendum in’ 2016 increased the level of macroeconomic uncertainty, increasing the likelihood of the

impacts outlined under “macroeconomic conditions” above.

Consistent with 2019 the Directors believe that the Company's multi-channel, multi-brand strategy creates a diverse revenue
‘base-which-means-itis-well placed to-mitigate-any-negative-impacts-resulting from the-UK's-withdrawal -from the-European-Urion.

In particular:

- the increasingly diversified market position resulting from the Company’s acquisitions;

- the customerbase of the Company is UK centric and'is therefore less impacted by the withdrawal from the ‘European ‘Union;
- the Property division is largely subscription based and is therefore less susceptible to short-term shocks or variations in the

-property market-or wider-economy;

- alarge proportion of Property partners are engaged in both sales and lettings, which reduces the risk of any downtum in the

property market on their businesses;

- an economic downtum increases thie propensity for consumers to search Comparison platforms for the ‘best deais ‘to save

money on their household expenses;

- aweaker Pound Sterling may lead to higher price inflation in areas such as energy bills, which may benefit the Comparison

-division; -and-

- animpact on house prices could improve current affordability pressures providing a positive impact on revenue streams.
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Covid:19:panidemic;

At the date of approval of the annual report and financial statements there remains uncertainty in relation to the future impact
that the Covid-19 pandemic will have on the global economy, and on the Group as a consequence. The Directors’ considered
view:is:that:principal risk-of the Covid-19 pandemic crisis to the Group is that some.customers stop, or delay; payments:
Overall, the'Group's performiance has been resilient throughout the pandeéiic to date; albeit the Directors Have takén:
precautionary measures to conserve cash resources were possible. Additionally, the Directors have a range of further
mitigating actions that can be taken in order to both maintain the Group's operating capabilities and to enable it to meet its
future liabilities-as-they fall:due. The .Group:has:utilised: govemment: business support schemes-during-the year.including VAT
deferral and Eutough schemes’ Business continility plans are'in ‘place; with-measure’to:manage.employee absefices; the-
efficiency of the Company’s operations and the ability for home working. Leadership teams and working groups led by senior
managers are in place to support operational resilience and taking common-sense precautions with a view to ensuring the
wellbeing:of .colleagues: Whilst the pandemic has:had an.impact.on the Group’s financial performance; this was ;primarily:due
‘tolaistrategic décision made toiivest i its ‘Customers through the free of charge contracts: There hias been o chafige:in the:
Group's business model, underlying operations or overall strategy as a result of Covid-19 and the Director's remain assured of
the Group's-strong-financial:position:and:prospects: The potential:impacts:of.the. Covid=19:pandemic.crisis:are set.out.in:-more
‘détail'in:the:Going concem section of the Birector’s feport:

Changes in 2020
The risk-identified :above was the. main :change noted by-the Group. Noother material changes to the business-have been-
‘fdentified in’theyear.

The Directors” are satisfied that.the.Group:has:identified sufficient actions that seek:to:manage,.rather-than:eliminate .risk; so:as-
toprovide reasonable mitigation-against materal misstatement of foss ‘within the ‘business.

7
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‘Section s1 72(1) statement

The Directors of Zephyr Midco 2 Ltd consider, in the context of a constitution of a Board, that they have .acted in good faith, to
promote-the success -of the-company for the-benefit-of its members-with-specific reference-to Companies-Act 2006-S172 (ta-—-
1f), in the decisions taken during the year ending 30 September 2020 including: .

Shareholders

= the-Directors-were (and continue to-be)-able to-perform their duty-under-section 172 (1)-with unique -and-direct-access
to the perspectives and interests of its shareholder, which itself fully endorses and supports the importance of the Board
having due regard to a broad range of matters including those referred to in section 172(1) (a) to (f)

¢ The Directors are committed to openly engaging with its shareholders through attendance of Board meetings, so that
‘shareholders understand the-strategy-and-objectives-of-the-Group -

+ The Group provides regular reports and maintains regular dialogue with shareholders to ensure their involvement in the
Group’s decision-making.

e  As perprevious years the Directors approve an annual budget, prepared by Group’s senior management. The Directors
are-then-able-to-monitor performance-against annual budget and plan through the-year.ended 30 September 2020:

Employees

 The Group is passionate about attracting, engaging, developing and retaining the best talent in the industry. The Group
is -always-open to-feedback-and seeks to-provide-as many-opportunities for.discussion:as-possible:

e The Group engages through Peakon, an employee survey tool, to regularly measure employee net promoter score
(eNPS) and key engagement drivers. We also have an Employee Engagement Manager who formalises and leads
-engagement-and-intemal-communications strategy.

+ The Group has a strong focus on its employees’ wellbeing and has introduced numerous schemes in the year which
focus on improving mental health and specifically, to help employees adapt to new working practices caused by the
Covid-19 pandemic. The Group has introduced Group-wide weekly calls with the CEO, weekly HR support calls and a
working from-home-budget for-every-employee: '

e  As part of the Group’s commitment to creating an inclusive and diverse workforce, Employee Resource Groups have
been set up, providing employees with a community and a safe space to meet and support one another.

¢ The Group is one of the founding members of ‘The Tech She Can Charter’ commitment and in the year launched an
-apprenticeship:programme; to-improve-accessibility into the-industry.

¢  One of the Group’s brands — Zoopla — was recently named one of London’s top ten tech employers in Hired’s Annual
Brand Health survey. We believe this proves our appeal as an employer of choice

Suppliers

e The Group is committed to working with suppliers who share the Group’s values. Before commencing a business
relationship with a supplier, the Group will review the supplier’s labour practices. The Group is committed to The Prompt
Payment Code and has also supported suppliers through the Covid-19 pandemic by continuing contracts which could
-otherwise-have been terminated (such-as some facilities :contracts):

Customers

e The Group aims for its customers, including estate agents, new home developers, lenders and providers of energy,
-communications -and-financial-services products, to-benefit from access to a highly-engaged audience-via the-Group's-
market-leading property and comparison portals, generating additional revenues and delivering better service by using
the Group’s software and data insights. The Group has a dedicated Product and Tech team who are committed to
innovating these-products-so that-our-customers-have-a-data-driven platform which will help their businesses succeed.

e The Group supported and engaged with the Property division’s customers directly through the offering of free-period
contracts to help them navigate the market conditions brought about by the Covid-19 pandemic.

Consumers

e The Group aims for consumers to be able to access market data with real-time alerts to make the most informed
decisions about everything related to finding, moving or managing their homes.

e The Group engaged with consumers directly through the ‘Build a fort' challenge in the Property division and numerous
-published articles across various social media-channels.

e  Expert, authoritative content provided guidance and support to heip consumers navigate this year's challenging personal
finance landscape. and new Comparison TV creative encouraged them to ‘get more of what matters’ with the time and
money saved by switching.

»  TFhe:Group alsoprovided support to the Comparison division by.simplifying the switching process, - making:iteven.quicker
and easier to save money.

8
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Strategic:report (continued)
For the year ended 30 September 2020

Social'Responsibility.

The Group recognises the impact it may have on the environment as a business and as individuals, particularly and
most curently, the wasteful behaviour across the globe surounding disposable, single use plastics.

‘The Group-is-collaborating:with-Clean Up:Britain; City to Sea and Surfers Against Sewage tohelp put-astop-to-further
plastic poliution:

The Group encourages positive behaviour and attitudes from within the business by providing long life, refillable and
reusable options to employees and eliminating the purchase of single use plastic within the offices. Informative tools
and-advice -are.provided to  all employees:on:how.to:prevent further.unnecessary waste ending up:in-the.environment
and-damaging-ecosystems:

The Group’s ‘Pay it Forward' programme, providing hands-on help to a range of causes close to the hearts of our
employees, has gathered momentum over the year. The Group's involvement has included working with students from
Jow-socioeconomic .backgrounds to prepare them for.career success, volunteering on a free helpline for young-people
afid:sorting donations at locat food:-banks:

Regulators / Industry bodies

The Group operates in'a-number of regulated -environments: Certain revenue streams:within the Comparison:division-
are: reguiated: by the' ECA. The Group:therefore needs to:ensure: that it engages with: the' regulators and: proféssional:
bodies to comply with all regulatory responsibilities.

The details of the policies implemented, and their outcomes are covered in more detail in the ‘Risk Management, Internal
control-and-principal risks” section .of the Strategic report:

Led By the Boafrd; the Group Hias a high-integrty cullire,; ‘with! appropriate policiés; trainifg: and procéssés relating to:
anti bribery and corruption along with substantial business control functions such as Intemal Control and Site Reliability
.Engineering: (the-latter.covering Cyber Security operations):

The:Directors through: the-attendance of Board meetings provide information:to:shareholdérs:

The:Strategic report:is.approved by-the Board of Directors (“Board”) on- 23 - December 2020 and signed on behalf-of the-Board-

by.

Care 5gme

.Director

“Charles Bryant:



Zephyr Midco 2 Limited

Directors’ report
For the year ended 30 September 2020

The Directors present their report of Zephyr Midco 2 Limited (“Midco” or “the Company”) and its subsidiaries (together “the
Group”)-for the-year-ended 30:September-2020:("2020").

Directors )
The Directors who held office during the year and up to the date of signing these financial statements were as follows:

- Neil Edwards — Appointed on 31 July 2019 and resigned on 6 March 2020
- UIf Pagenkopf ‘

- Simon Patterson

- Charles-Bryant —Appointed-on-6-March 2020

Directors’ indemnities and insurance

In accordance with the Companies Act 2006 and the Company’s Articles, the Company has purchased and maintains Directors’
and-officers’ liability insurance-cover, which remains-in-place as atthe-date-of this-report. A-review is-carried-out-on-an annual
basis to ensure that the Board remains satisfied that an appropriate level of cover is in place. ’

As at the date of this report, indemnities are in force under which the Company has agreed to indemnify the Directors, to the
-extent-permitted by law and the-Company's -Articles .of-Association, in-respect of all {osses arising-out of,-or-in:connection-with;
the execution of their powers, duties and responsibilities, as Directors of the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

Results .
‘The Group total comprehensive 1oss for the year after tax was £47.4 million (2019 (15 months period): £107.9 milfion loss). Refer
to the Strategic Report for further discussions of the Group's results and performance for the period.

Dividend

‘The Directors do not recommend a final dividend ‘in respect of the year ended ‘30 September 2020.

Future developments

‘The Group has enjoyed strong financial operating resuiits in the period since acquifing ZPG Plc, across both divisions. Tn Property,
the Group is encouraged by the strong sales pipeline as well as the rate of retuming UK agents to the Group’s property portals.
The-Comparison-business-continues to trade-well-despite-competition-in-the-market and-has continued to-identify-and-invest-in-
processes to further improve operating profit margin in the coming financial year. The Group experienced a short term impact in

the financial results resulting from the Covid-19 pandemic. The Group reacted immediately and implemented cost saving
activities detailed in the Going concern section below.

The Group aims to continue its mission of being the platform of choice for consumers and partners engaged in property and
household decisions. The Group will continue to innovate and actively improve current products and develop new products to
further improve the consumer and partner experience. The Directors look forward to launching more innovative products and
‘senvices-in-the-year-ahead.

Going concemn

The Group consolidated statement of financial position shows a positive net current asset position of £124.9m with significant
-cash-resources and the-Group-continues {0 generate-positive-net cash flowsof £96.2m from-operating activities. Although-the:
Group posted a total comprehensive loss after tax of £47.4 million in the period, this is after £75.1 million of non-cash intangible
asset amortisation costs, share-based payments costs of £7.5 million, and charges to deferred consideration of £0.4 million.
Therefore, despite the loss in the period the Directors believe that the Group is well placed to manage its business and financial
risks -successfully going forward. Net .cash generated in the-year was £14.5m, resulting in a year-end- cash-position-of 114:9m-
(which includes £20m in short-term investment accounts). The Revolving Credit Facility of £150m was undrawn at the reporting
date. :

The Coronavirus crisis is likely to have a continuing impact on the Group's operations over the next 12 months. Therefore, in
-order to gain-comfort over the-Group's ability to-continue-as a-going-concern, the-Directors-have-modelled the-Group’s-cash flow:
position in relation to the current situation for the 12 months following the date of the signing of these accounts. The model
includes the new subscription free offers the Property business gave to its customers in May 2020 and their changes to the
Group's financial position. The new contracts.offer.customers-a-subscription free period-of 5:—9-months dependent on-customers;
following the free period, the customers will enter a 12-month contract period with the Group paying full subscription fees. The
model has included the retum in cash receipts for subscription revenue following the end of the free period in October 2020 for
the majority of customers. The remainder of customers will commence payments in February 2021, which is factored in the cash
flow:model: This 12-month:cash-flow forecast shows an-increase-in the-Group’s-cash reserves-from-currentlevels and a:continued:
increase in cash throughout the remainder of 2021. Through the forecast period, the Group has the ability to deliver cost savings
to offset any short-term revenue downtumns, consistent with what was achieved in the current year.
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Zephyr Mideo 2 Limited-

Directors’ report (continued)
' For the'year ended 30 September 2020

Going concem (continued)

The Groupis subject to covenants underits current debt structure. The financial covenant under the debt structure is.only-required-
{o:be tested if the révolving Credit facility of £150m is drawh upon £60im or more; the révolving crédit facility rémaifis ahdrawn:as’
at 30 September 2020. Throughout the cash flow forecast period, there is sufficient headroom on the financial covenant and no
plans to draw upon the revolving credit facility.

The: Directors have areasonable expectation:that the Group has ‘adequate resources to continue in'operational existence:for the:
foreseeable future, thus they continue to adopt the going concem basis.of accounting in preparing the financial statements. The
_Director's:consideration .of uncertainties that the business will face .in the next 12 months are captured within the principa!l-risks-
disclosed:in the ‘Stratégic report.

Financial risk management

.Refer to'Note 24 for details  of the Group's financial:risk-management which mcludes information-on-the .Group’s-exposure to
Credit risk; market risk and fiquidity sisk:

Research and development

The Group continues to incur expenditure on research and development in order to develop new products and enhance the
existing websites. Thé Group ‘accounting peliciés on réséarch ‘and development aré discusséd 'in Note 1'to the consolidated’
financial statements.

Overseas branches

The Group-has-one .overseas entity, with-an.office .in"the Netherands: .Calcasa B:V. .continues to-operate .as-a separate legal
entity registered:in the Netherdands.

Political contribution and charitable donation
“No pofitical contributions were thade in:2020 {2019 £ail).

Total charitable contributions made to all registered charities during the period was £26,353 (2019: £74,350).

The Group is passionate about attracting, engaging, developing and retaining the best talent in the industry and has invested
significantly to improve its talent attraction and recruitment. This includes offering an extensive and varied range of benefits for
_everylife stage.and lifestyle and.competitive salaries and market-leading benefits, which the Group:continually- monitors; reviews:
and-évolves in résponise o industry ¢hanges; benchmarking €xercises and employee feedback:

The Group is always open to feedback and seeks to provide as many opportunities for discussion as possible. It is vital that every
employee feels they have a voice, and this is achieved through Peakon, an employee survey tool, to help the Group regularly
measure employee .net:promoter score (€NPS) and key.engagement.drivers: Then; there is'an' Employee Engagement:Manager
who helps to: formalise and {ead-engagement and intemal communications strategy.

The Group is focused on keeping up to date with current best practice when it comes to self-development. This is achieved by
having a dedicated leaming and development facility that offers a wide selection of opportunities for employees to truly optimise
their potential. This includes a-range of interactive soft- skvlls workshops where employees :can sign-up and-leam-with-other
colleagues’inia “Meet'Up” style fashion:as Well:as alarge selection ‘of selfdearning matérials:

Diversity and inclusion

The Directors-believe that:all current and -future employees should:have fair and equal-access to-all opportunities-regardless-of
“theéir age; sexual orientation, parental responsibilities; disability; race; nationality; ethnic origin; membership of a‘trade’ union;

religion, belief or gender and this is reflected throughout all of the Group’s employment policies and practices, including
recruitment, selection, training, promotion, salary reviews and flexible working.

The:Group's €quat oppoitiiities policy is contained in the employee handbook which is available to.all employees: This'setsaiit
that it is the Group’s policy to select the most qualified person for each position within the organisation and it is the Group's intent
and resolve to comply with the requirements and spirit of all laws in the implementation of all facets of equal opportunity. This
policy applies-to-all-employment practices and personnel:actions including; but not.limited-to; recruitment, selection; .training,
“promaotion; pay'rates; discipline and-dismissal.
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Zephyr Midco 2 Limited

Directors’ report (continued)
For the year ended 30 September 2020

Environmental matters . .

“The Group recognises the impact it may have on environment as a’business and as:individuals, particulardly and most currently,
the wasteful behaviour across the globe surrounding disposable, single use plastics. The Group is collaboratmg with Clean Up
Britain, City to Sea and Surfers Against Sewage to help put a stop to further plastic pollution.

Alongside external support, the Group encourages positive behaviour and attitudes from within the business by providing long
life, refillable and reusable options to employees and eliminating the purchase of single use plastic within the offices. Informative
and inspirational tools and advice are provided to all employees on how to prevent further unnecessary waste endlng up in the
-environment and-damaging-the-ecosystems.

The Group owns a number of property leases and company cars to support the business operation. The annual quantity
consumption from the operation of property lease and company cars is 976,860 kWh (2019: 1,196,972 kWh). The annual quantity
-of carbon-dioxide (CO2)-emission resulting from the-total-UK-energy -used from-electricity is 208 tonnes .(2019: 272 tonnes).
Emission is also calculated using an ‘intensity metric’, which will enable the Group to monitor how well we are controlling
emissions on an annual basis. The Group considers the most suitable metrics as ‘emission per employee’, based on average
number of employees. The carbon emission per employee’is 0.2 tonnes of CO2 per employee (2019: 0.3 tonnes of CO2 per
-employee):

Subsequent events

The Group has noted three subsequent events after the reporting date of 30 Séptember 2020.

o The Group entered into an agreement on the 4 November 2020 to dispose Ravensworth Printing Services. Limited
(*Ravensworth®) for consideration of £1. The disposal was completed on 30 November 2020. The Group has impaired the
acquired intangible assets and intangible assets under the Ravensworth entity;
The-Group-started-group-restructuring-with the newstructure-effective-from 30 November 2020; :and" S

e On 21 December 2020, the Group completed its acquisition of EDM Group’s Decision Automation Mortgage Lender solutions
business.

The Ravensworth closure, the group restructuring, and the acquisition of EDM's MSL Limited is set out in more detait in the
‘subsequent-events in-Note 25-t0-the-financial-statements:
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Zephyr Midco 2 Limited

Directors’ report: (continued)
For the year ended 30 September 2020

“Statement of Directors’ responsibilities:
The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and
regulation.

Cofmpaty faw requires the Directors to prépare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the Directors ‘have:

prepared the Group and Company financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs)

as adopted by the European Union and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation, and applicable law, and the parent company financial

statements-in:accordance with-United-Kingdom Generally Accepted-Accounting-Practice (United Kingdom:Accounting Standards’

and applicable {aw); includifng FRS, 101 "Reduced Distlosure Framework”. Under company law the Directors mist fiot approve:

the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and
- Company and of the profit or loss of the Group and Company for that period.

In:preparing the financial 'statéments; the Directors are required to:

- select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

- state-whether applicable:{FRSs:as-adopted-by the-European-Union-have:-been-followed-for the- Group-and: Company financial-
statements; subject to-any material departures disclosed and-explained:in:the financial 'statements;

- make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and

- prepare-the financial statements -on the -going-concem basis -unless it-is-inappropriate -to-presume-that- the- Group- and:
Cottipatiy will continue in business:

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Group and
Company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Group and Company and
-enable them to-ensure that the financial statements'comply.with-the.Companies-Act 2006:-and-as:regards-the .Group-financial-
statements; Article 4-of the 1AS. Regulation.

The Directors are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group and Company and hence for taking reasonable steps
for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Statement of disciosure to thie auditor

Each of the Directors at the date of this report confirms that:

- sofaras:the-Director is-aware; there-is-no relevant-audit information-of- which-the-Company's-auditor is-unaware; and-

- hefshe has-taken:all the reasonable:steps thathe /:she cught to-have taken as-a:Director to make himself /- herself aware of
any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditor is aware of the information.

The confirmation is.given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of section 418 of the Companies Act-2006:

“Pufsuant toisection 485:0f the 2006 Cofipanies Act Deloitte LLP have indicated their willingnéssto:be reappointed: for anctheér
term:and:appropriate-ammangements-have been putin-place for them tobe proposed-for re-appointment as:auditor.in:the.absence
of an:Annual:General Meeting.

The Biréctors' reportis approved by the 'Board ‘of Directors (“Board’) on' 23 December 2020 and signed on behalfof the Boaid by:

.Director
Chares Bryant.
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Zephyr Midco 2 Limited

Independent auditor’s report to the members of Zephyr Midco 2 Limited
For the year ended 30 September 2020

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion
In our opinion:

« the financial statements of Midco 2 Limited (the ‘parent oompany) and its subsidiaries (the ‘group’) give a true and fair
view-of the-state-of the-group’s and-of the-parent company’s- affairs- as at 30 September 2020 and -of the-group’s loss
for the year then ended;

e the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with Intemational Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union and IFRSs as issued by the Intemational Accounting Standards
‘Board:(IASB);

e the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice, including Financial Reporting Standard 101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework”

+ the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the financial statements which comprise:

+ the consolidated and company statements of comprehensive income;
the consolidated and company statements of financial position;
the-consolidated-statement-of cash flows;
the consolidated and company statements of changes in equity; and
Notes to the consolidated and company financial statements

e 6 o

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the group financial statements is applicable law
and-{FRSs as adopted by the-European-Union: The-financial-reporting framework that-has been applied in the-preparation-of the-
parent company financial statements is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting
Standard 101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework”

Basis for opinion

We--conducted-our audit in accordance with Intemational Standards -on' Auditing (UK) {ISAs (UK)) and applicable-law: Qur
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
section of our report.

We are independent of the group and the parent company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are refevant to our
audit-of-the-financial statements-in the-UK, including the-Financial Reporting Council's-(the-‘FRC's") Ethical Standard, and we:
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern
We- are required by 1SAs (UK)to-report in-respect.of the-following-matters where:
o the directors’ use of the going concem basis of accounting in preparation of the financial statements is not appropriate;
or
- the directors-have not disclosed in the financial statements .any identified material uncertainties that may. cast
significant doubt about the group’s or the parent company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of
accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report, -other than the-financial statements and -our auditor's-report thereon. -Our opinion -on the financial statements does not
cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwnse explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
-consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements .or-our-knowledge-obtained-in-the:
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material
misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a materia!
misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement:of this-other information, we are-required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.
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Zephyr Midco 2 Limited

(contmued)
For the year ended 30 September 2020

"Responsibilities of directors”
As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such intemal control as the directors determine is
necessary-to énable the preparation of financial statements that are free from matéerial misstatement, whéther due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s and the parent company’s ability to
continue as a going cancem, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concem and using the going concem basis of
-aceounting-unless the directors either intendto liquidate the group orthé parent company or to’ ceaseé operations, or have no
reafistic aftternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement; whether due to fraud or etror; and to:issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion: Reasonable assurance is-
a ‘high-level. of assurafice; but is ot a‘guarantee that an:audit: conducted in-accordance with 1SAs (UK) will: atways detect a-
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the' aggregate, they could-reasonably bé expécted to influénce thé economic decisions of users takein on the basis of these’
financial statements.

.A further descnptron of our responsrbrmres for the audit .of the financial statements is located on the- FRC'’s- website- at:
ey PRI ion forms part of qur auditor's repart.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Opinions ‘on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act-2006-
{n ‘our opinion; based on the work tndeéraken in the course of the audit:
» the information given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financial year for which the financial
statements-are prepared-is consistent with-the-financial statements; and-
s ‘the'strategic report and:the directors’ report-have been prepared:in-accordance with applicable legal requiremerits:

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and of the parent company and their environment obtained in the
course of the audit, we have not identified any matena! misstatements in the strategic report or the directors’ report.

Under the Companres Act 2008 we are reqmred to reportin respect of the following matters if, in our opinion:
» adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or retums adequate for our audit have not
been received- from branches not visited-by us; or
"o ‘theparentcompany financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and retums; o
* certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
» we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

We have-hothing 1o report in réspect of thése mattérs:

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act
2006: Our audit work has beenundertaken so-that we might state to the company’s members those matters we are required:to-
state to:them'in an-auditor’s report and:for no:other pumpose: To the fullest-extent pemnitted by {aw; we donot accept or assume:
‘responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company’s members as a body; for-our-audit work, for this report; or for
the Gpinicns we have forted:

Jim Brown (Senior statutory auditor)
For and on behaif of Deloitte LLP.
-Statutory: Auditor
‘{-ondon. o

23 December 2020°
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Zephyr Midco 2 Limited

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

For the year ended 30 September 2020

Notes 2020 Jonsizots
£000- £000
Revenue 2 288.793 383.608
Administrative expenses (269,858) . (400,558)
Operating profit/(loss) 3 18;935 (16;950)
Finance income ’ 1,856 458
Finance costs - 4 (64,562) " (86,567)
:Faif-va'IUe gain arising on‘hedging instruments during'the 11 ‘5,440 -
period
Loss before tax (38,331) (103,059)
income tax expense k) «(9:996) 5:000)
. Loss for the period (48,327) (108,059)
Other comprehensive income
Iltems that may be reclassified to profit or loss:
Fair value movements — Financiat assets at fair value through 14
-other.comprehensive-income- 900- 140-
(47,427) (107,949)

Total comprehensive loss for the period
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Zephyr Midco 2 Limited

Consolidated:statement-of financial position.

As at 30 September 2020
Notés 2020° 2018
£000 £000
_Assets-
“Non-currentassets _
Intangible assets 12 2,589,059 2,660,350
“Property, plant and equipment’ 13 35:084; 38:471
Financial assets at fair value through other 14 7:141 6,205
comprehensive income
Deryative financial instruments - 11 5,440 ) -
: 2,636,724 2,705,026
Current assets
“Trade and othier-receivables 15 67,188 587590:
Current tax assets 8 14,375 -
Cash and cash equivalents 94,939 100,489
. Other:short term investments - 20,000 -
196,50 . 159,079
Total.assets- 2,833,226 2,864,105
“{iabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 16 56,337 ) 44,963
‘Deféired -and contingent consideration: 17: '9;:83¢: . 22:836:
Short-term lease liabilities 16 5,469 4,326
Current tax liabilities 8 - 6,291
- Provisions - 18 - 101
Total current liabilities 71,645 78,217
’ Tota_lassetslesscunentha__l;drhes ' 2,761,581 2,785,888
Non-current liabilities
_Loans and borrowings 19 921,783 908,840
‘Longiterm fease tiabilities 16: 27:617 27.756:
Deferred and contingent consideration 17 6,529 15,786
Provisions 18 1,975 2,284
1,177,942 1,160,893
Total liabilities 1,249,587 1,239,110
“Netassets: 1,583,639 1;624;995.
Equity attributable to owners of the
-parent-
“Sharte capitat: 21 - 1,719:800 1,719:800-
Share-based payment reserve 22 15,485 8,309
Other reserves : 900 o 0
‘Retained-eamings- {152,546)- {103,114).
Totalequity: 1,583,639 1,624,995

The consolidated:financial statements:of Zephyr.Midco 2. Limited: were approved by the Board-of Directors-on: 18- December

2020 and - were:signed-on its behalf by:

Chatfes-Bryant
" Director
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Zephyr Midco 2 Limited

Consolidated statement of cash flows

For the year ended 30 September 2020

03/05/2018 -
2020 3010912018
£000 £000
Cash flows from/(used in) operating activities ’
Loss before tax (38,331) . (103,059)
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of properly, plant and equipment 5,121 5,951
Amortisation of intangible assets 75,061 90,827
Finance income (1,818) (458)
Finance costs 64,524 86,567
‘Share-based payments 7:544 8,349
Impairment of available for sale and other assets - 431
Charge for contingent and deferred consideration (404) 15,683
Transaction costs incurred on purchase of ZPG’ - 38,577
Other impairments 4,367 7,792
Changes in fair value on financial instrument (5,440) ) -
Operating cash flows before changes in working capital 110,624 150,660
Increase in trade and other receivables (8,598) (13,196)
‘Ihcrease/(decrease) in trade and ottier payables 11,374 41,417y
‘Decrease in provisions (410) (92)
.Cash generated from operating activities 112,990 95,955
Income tax paid (16,809) (8,193)
Net cash flows from operating activities 96,181 87,762
Cash flows used in investing activities
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired - (2,205,367)
Settlement of other deferred and contingent consideration (21,550) (46,376)
Interest received . 1,818 458
Acquisition of available for sale financial assets {36) -
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (1.808) (930)
Acquisition and development of intangible assets (8,064) (12,440)
‘Net cash flows used’in investing activities (29,640) (2;264,655)
Cash flows (used in)/from financing activities )
Proceeds on the issue of shares, net of issue costs - 1,719,800
‘Payments on-finance teases {1;916) (4;058)
Drawings on revolving credit facility, net of fees 150,000 -
Repayment of borrowings (150,000) (264,000)
‘Proceeds from external debt, net of capitalised fees - ‘901,189
Interest paid (49,807) (75,549)
Cash settlement in warrants (368) -
‘Net cash flows from financing activities {52;091) 2,277,382
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 14,450 100,489
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the period (acquired 100,489 -
cashy)- .
Cash and cash equivalents and other short-term investments at end 114,939 100,489

of the period

The cash and cash equivalents and other short-term investments at the end of the period consist of the following:

-03/05/2018:=

2020 30/09/2019

£000 £000

Cash and cash equivalents 94,939 100,489
Other short-term‘investments ‘20,000 -
114,939 100,489
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Zephyr Midco 2 Limited

Consolidated: statement of changes:in-equity

“For'the yearended:30:September 2020,

Share
Share based payment Other reserves Retained Totat:
- capital” .resemve’ eamings™ -equity’
Ngite’s - £000 £000- £000- £000-
At 1 October 2019 1,719,800 8,309 - (103,114) 1,624,995
Loss for the period - - - (48,327) (48,327)
Fair value movements 13 - - 900 - 900
Transactions with owners
Share-based payments 22 - 7,544 - - 7,544
charges /
‘WarrantSettlement. {368y - {368);
Cumulative translation - - - (58) (58)
adjustment
Deférred tax tiability on: - - - {3:647): {1:047):
transitional adjustment
~At:30:September 2020 1719800 15.485. 900 (152,548). 1,583,639,
Share
Share based payment Retained Total
capital” _reserve’ .eamings™ .equity’
Nots's - £000- £000- £000- “£000-
At 4 May 2018 - - - -
Loss for the period - - (108,059) (108,059)
COther. Comprehensive. income:
Fair value- movements 13 - - 110 110
Transactions with .owners recorded"
directly i -egiuity:
Shares issued 1,719,800 - - 1,719,800
Share-based_ payments charges 22 - 8,309 - 8,309
" Clmidativelimpact of {FRS. 167 - - 5:515; 5515
Cumulative impact of IFRS 15 - - (643) (643)
Cumulative translation adjustment - - (37) (37)
At:30:September. 2019 1,719,800 8,309 (103,314). 1,624,995
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Zephyr Midco 2 Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 30 September 2020

1. Accounting policies

Zephyr Midco 2 Limited (the “Company”) is a private odmpény limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in the UK under the
Companies-Act 2006-and- reglstered in:England-and-Wales. TFhe-address. of the:registered-office-is Fhe-Cooperage; 5-Copper:
Row, London SE1 2LH.

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the accounts of the Company and entities controlled by the Company (“its
‘subsidiaries”)-(together “the-Group®).

1.1 Basis of preparation

The principal accounting poficies adopted in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are set out below for the
period-from 1-:October 2019:to-30- September 2020.

Compliance with IFRS

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Intemational Financial Reporting Standards,
International- Accounting Standards and {FRIC interpretations (collectively- {FRS) issued by the- International Accounting
Standards Board (IASB) as adopted by the European Union (“adopted IFRS"). They are prepared on the historical cost basis.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in compliance with adopted IFRS requires the use of certain critica!l
accounting-estimates. .it-also-requires.-Management:to-exercise:judgement in-applying the-Group's:accounting:policies:

Presentational currency

The presentational currency of the ﬁnancnal statements is Pound Sterling (£). Amounts included in the consolidated financial
‘statements  are-shownin-round thousands-unless-otherwise-indicated:

1.2 New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

There are no IFRSs or IFRIC interpretations that are not yet effective that would be expected to have a material impact on the
Group for the financial period-beginning- 1: October 2019:

1.3 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the accounts of Zephyr Midco 2 Limited and entities controlled by the
‘Company: Control is achieved where-the-Company:

- has the power over the entity;
- is exposed, or has rights, to variable retum from its involvement with the entity; and
- -hasthe ability to-use-its.power to-affect:its:retums:

The results of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date control commences.

On consolidation, intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group entities are
-eliminated: Unrealised-losses are-also-eliminated-unless-the-transaction provides -evidence-of an impairment of the-transferred
asset. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted
by the group.

For the period ended 30 September 2019, the Group had acquired ZPG Pic. The results of this acquisition have been
consolidated from the date of acquisition as set out in Note 10.

Foreign subsidiaries

At the year end, the Company has one trading subsidiary that uses a functional currency which is different to the presentational
currency of the Group. Calcasa B.V.’s functional currency is the Euro as it is the currency of the primary economic environment
in which it operates.

Assets and liabilities for Calcasa B.V. are translated into Pound Sterling using the exchange rate at the statement of financial
position date and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income statement translated using the average exchange rate
for the-year. Exchange-differences on translation into the presentational currency are-recognised within-other comprehensive:
income. The principal exchange rates for the Euro against Pound Sterling used in these consolidated financial statements are:
average: 0.8782, closing: 0.9099.
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Zephyr Midco 2 Limited

Notes to:the consolidated financial statements (continued):
For the year ended 30 September 2020

14 Going concern:

The Group consolidated statement of financial position shows a positive net current asset position of £124.9m with significant
cash resources and the Group continues to generate positive net cash flows of £96.2m from operating activities. Although the
Group-posted:a-total comprehensive loss after tax.of £47.4-million in-the period; this-is-after £75:1 million of non=cash-intangible
asset amortisation costs; share:based payments costs of £7.5 millioh; and charges o deferred: consideration of £0.:4 million:
Therefore, despite the loss in the period the Directors believe that the Group is well placed to manage its business and financiai
risks successfully going forward. Net cash generated in the year was £14.5m, resulting in a year-end cash position of 114.9m
(which incliudes £20m in'short-term’ invéstment accounts). The Revolved Credit Facility of £150m was undrawin’ at the reporting’
date.

The Coronavirus crisis is fikely to have a continuing impact on the Group's operations over the next 12 months. Therefore, in
order to gain comfort over the Group’s ability to continue as a going concem, the Directors have modelled the Group's cash flow
position-in relation-to-the curment: situation for the 12 months ‘following 'the .date of the signing of these accounts: The model
inchides the new subscriptioh free ‘offérs the Property business gave to its custoiners in:-May. 2020 and: their changes tothe:
Group's financial position. The new contracts offer customers a subscription free period of 5 — 9 months dependent on customers;
following the free period, the customers will enter a 12-month contract period with the Group paying full subscription fees. The
model-has:included the retumn-in:cash:receipts for subscription-revenue following:the end of the free period-in:October 2020 for
the majority of customers: The remainder of customers will commence payments in February 2021 which'is factored in the cash
flow model. This 12-month cash flow forecast shows an increase in the Group's cash reserves from current levels and a continued
increase in-cash throughout the remainderof 2021. Through the forecast period, the Group has the ability to deliver.cost savings-
{o-offset anyshort-term revenue downturns, consistent with what was achievedin the current year.

The Group is subject to covenants under its current debt structure. The financial covenant 'under the debt structure is only required
to be tested if the revolving credit facility of £150m is drawn upon £60m or more; the revolving credit facility remains undrawn as
at 30-September 2020: Throughout the cash-flow forecast: penod there is'sufficient headroom-on the financial-covenant.and no-
plans-todraw upon the revolving credit facility.

The Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future, thus they continue to adopt the going concern basis. of accounting in preparing the financial statements. The
Director's consideration of uncertainties that the business will face in the next 12 months are captured within the principal- risks-
disclésed:ifi’the ‘Strategic report:

1.5 Finance income and costs

Finance income represents- interest receivable on' cash' and" deposit balances  and- gains recognised on- foreign-.currency
{rafisactions: Interest receivable i3 recognised-as it accrues using the effective interest method:

Finance costs represent interest charges and certain fees charged on the Group’s external borrowings and revolving credit
facility. This includes the amortisation of upfront establishment fees paid on the Group’s debt. In adhering to the updated leasing
standard IFRS 16 there is cost relating to thé unwind of the discoint provision on all idéntified lease liabilities also included within®
finance costs.

Foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised annually based on the translation of assets and liabilities held in foreign
currencies to Pound Sterling and realised gains and losses on transactions recorded in the period. The Group’s principal
exposure s to the Euro, through its Netherdands subsidiary and a traiche of its extérnal borrowings which'is - denodminated in
“Euro.

1.6 Property, plant and equipment

Items of property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost. This cost includes the purchase price, directly attributable
<costs and the éstimated Présent valiie of any future unavoidable ‘costs ‘of dismantling ‘and removing iténis: The comeésponding:
liability is recognised within provisions. ltems of property, plant and equipment are subsequently measured at cost less
accumulated depreciation and are not revalued.

Depreciation iz recegnised s0:2as {0 write off the cost of assets fess their residual values over their useful economic lives, using:
the straight-line method, as follows:

Fixtures-and:fittings - - .over2to 5 years-
Computer equipment’ - over 2405 years
Leasehold improvements - over the lease term

Freehold property - over 50 years

The Directors review the residual vailues and useful economic tives of assets on an annual basis.
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Zephyr Midco 2 Limited . e ' o

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 30 September 2020

1.7 Business combinations and disposals

The acquisition of subsidiaries and businesses is accounted for using the acquisition method in.accordance with IFRS 3. The
consideration for each acquisition is measured at the aggregate of fair values of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed,
and-equity instruments-issued by the-Group in-exchange-for control-of the-acquired-company, net of cash-acquired. -Acquisition-
related costs, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securities, are recognised in the consolldated statement
of comprehensive income as incurred. .

Gains or losses on disposals of businesses are recognised within exceptionals where the consideration received is higher or
lower than-the-carrying-value-of the-net assets-disposed-of: Priorto disposal-an-asset or-disposal-group-is classified as held for
sale and is measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less-costs to sell where the disposal group is available for
immediate sale in its present condition and the sale is highly probable. Following classification as held for sale non-current
assets in-the-disposal group-are-not-depreciated.

The results of operations held for sale are included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income up to the date of
disposal. Where a disposal represents an independent cash generating unit or material component of the Group the disposal
will-be-considered-a-discontinued -operation-for the-purposes-of reporting-its financial -performance-for the-period:

1.8 Goodwill

Goodwill arising on a business combination represents the difference between the fair value of the consideration paid and the
fair value -of assets -and {iabilities acquired and is recorded -as an intangible -asset. -Goodwill -is -not subsequently-subject-to-
amortisation but is tested for impairment annually and whenever the Directors have an indication that it may be impaired. For
the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to the cash-generating units expected to benefit from the combination.
Any impairment in carrying value is charged to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

1.9 Intangible assets

Purchased intangible assets with finite lives are initially recorded at cost. intangibles arising on acquisition are recorded at fair
value. Allintangibles are subsequently-stated at initial value-less accumulated-amortisation-and-accumulated impairment-los ses:
Amortisation is charged to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful
lives of the intangible assets as follows:

Brand - 5 to 25 years
Customer-relationships- - 14-to 22 years
Technology and software - 3to 8 years

1.10 Impairment of tangible and intangible assets

Tangible and intangible assets are tested for impairment when an impairment indicator has been identified. If the recoverable
amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable
amount. Where-the-asset-does-not-generate-cash flows-that are-independent-from-other assets; the-recoverable-amount of the-
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs is estimated. Any impairment loss is recognised immediately in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

Goodwill and intangibles are tested for impairment by comparing the carmrying amount of the groups of cash-generating unit
{CGUY)-with its recoverable amount, which-represents the higher-of its-estimated fair value-less-cost to-sell and-value-in-use- An-
impairment loss is recognised when the camrying value of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount.

Where an impaimment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to the
revised-estimate-of-its-recoverable-amount {0 the -extent that this increased-camrying amount-does not-exceed the-carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
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Zephix Midco 2 Limited:

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
~For the'year-ended:30.September-2020 -

1.11 Research and development

The Grouprincurs :expenditure-on research and development in order to develop new products and -enhance the existing websites:
"Research expeﬁdfture s expensed in e period in which itis incurred. Dévelopment Costs are xpénséd when #icureéd anless
they meet certain criteria for capitalisation. Development costs whereby research findings are applied to creating a substantially
enhanced website or new product are only capitalised once the technical feasibility and the commercial viability of the project
has been demonstrated- and-they .can-be reliably measured: Capitalised.development .costs  are presented-in these financial
“statémenits a5  additions to: software: a3sets and: are ofily amortised once 'the asset is dvailable for. Use at which point'it'is thén:
depreciated on a straight-line basis over their expected useful economic life.

Once the new website enhancement or: product is available for-use, subsequent expendlture to maintain the website.or product;
“Br oh Smiall énlianceéthents to the website or prodiict; is Tecognised as an €xpense wheén itis incufred:

‘Research and Development tax credit claims made in the UK are recognised as a credit to administrative expenses in the financial
year relevant to-the claim: .Research-and:Development.tax credits-in the Netherlands-are recognised-in-accordance with-local
egistation-and are accetnted for as a deductiontothe relevant tax expense.



Zephyr Midco 2 Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continueq)
For the year ended 30 September 2020

1.12 Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the Group becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Full details of financial instruments are included in Note 24.

IFRS 9 "Financial Instruments” prescribes the rules for recognition and measurement of financial instruments. The impact of the
-new-standard-on-the-Group is-limited to the-measurement-of provisions raised in-relation to revenue-received by the-Group. The:
standard requires the use of an expected loss model when determining an appropriate provision related to trade receivables.
The Group has applied this model and uses both historical analysis and macroeconomic factors in determining the resulting
provisions against trade receivables.

Investments in unlisted securities not meeting the definition of associates, joint ventures or subsidiaries are classified as Financial
assets at fair value through other comprehensive income and are initially recorded at fair value plus transaction costs. The
investments are then remeasured at each subsequent reporting date to fair value. Changes in the fair value of the unlisted
‘securities are-recognised-in other comprehensive-income; with the-exception-of impairment losses. On-disposal-of the asset any
gains and losses recorded within other comprehensive income are realised and are reclassified to the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income. '

Other short term investments are the term deposit held at the Company and measured at amortised costs. The interest income
from-the-short term investments are-recognised through-the profit and-loss-account:

Trade and other receivables are designated as loans and receivables. They are recognised at amortised cost, which is net of
any allowance for expected credit losses. This is deemed to be a reasonable approximation of their fair value. The amount of
-expected-creditlosses-is updated-at-each reporting -date to reflect.changes-in credit risk since-initial -recognition through-detailed
analysis of historical payment profiles and past defauit experience. When a trade receivable is deemed uncollectable, it is written
off against the allowance account. The Group receives interest income on certain amounts held in escrow.

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
-contractual-arangement. :

Trade and other payables are not interest bearing and are designated as other financial liabilities. They are recognised at their
carrying amount, which is deemed to be a reasonable approximation of their fair value.

Loans and borrowings are measured at amortised cost, net of direct costs. Direct costs are released through the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income under the effective interest method, along with interest charged, over the life of the
instrument.

Deferred and contingent consideration is recognised as financial liabilities carried at fair value and gains or losses arising from
cchanges in fair value are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
The-Company's-Ordinary Shares-are-classified as-equity-instruments-and are-recognised at the-proceeds received; net -of any
direct issue costs. Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Company's own equity instruments.

Financial instruments are not used for speculative purposes.

A large majority of the Groub's cash and cash equivalents are held in in the Group’s current accounts and are available for
immediate use.

The information set out below provides information about how the Group determines fair values of various financial assets and
financial liabilities that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value:

- Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities;

- Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are
observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and

- Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or liability that
are-not-based on-observable market data {unobservable-inputs).

Details of the type of fair value input used is included within the relevant note.
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Zephyr Midco 2 Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 30 September 2020

1.42 Financial insttuments {continued)

Derivative financial instruments

THe. Group-enters into cross-clrrercy interest rate swaps to mianage its exposure to foreign exchange rate risks. Further details’
of derivative financial instruments are disciosed in note 11.

Den'vatives are recognised initially at fair value at the date a den‘vative cont:act is entered into and are subsequently remeasured

A derivative with: a’ positive fair value is recognised: as a financial asset whereas' a derivative with: a negative fair value i
recognised as a financial liability. Derivatives are not offset in the financial statements unless the Group has both a legally
enforceable right and intention to offset. A derivative is presented as a non-current asset or a non-current liability if the remaining
maturity. of the.instrument is:more than-12 months-and itis:not due to be realised or settied within 12 months: Other derivatives-
are’presernited-as currént assets or current Hiabilities:

Hedge accounting is not adopted by the Group.

1.3 Current tax

Cumrent income tax comprises UK income tax and is provided at amounts expected to be paid (or recovered) using the tax rates
and-laws-that have been enacted orsubstantively enacted by the statement of financial position date. Current-tax-is recognised-
1 .the conisolidated statement of comprehensive income except to the extent that it is required to be recogniséd-directly ih-equity:

1.14 Deferred tax

Deferred-tax.assets-and-liabilities are recognised where.the carrying-amount of an:asset or liability in'the consolidated statement
of financial position differs from its tax base; except for differences arising-on:

- the initial recognition of goodwill;

- the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which is not a business combination and at the time of the
transaction affects neither-accounting ‘or taxable profit; and-

- investments in‘subsidiaties and jointly controlled entities where the Group is able to control the timing of the révérsal of the:
difference and it is probable that the difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Recognition-of deferred-tax.assets is restricted to those instances:where it is'probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the difference can be utilised: Deferred tax is recognised-in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income except’
to the extent that it is required to be recognised directly in equity.

The amount.of the asset or liability-is determined using taxrates that have been enacted orsubstantively-enacted by the reporting'
date and are expécted to apply when the defefred tax assets are recovered:

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when deferred income tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either theé saime taxable entity or différent taxable entities wheré there is ait’ intention to' settle-balances -on a net
basis.

1.15 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation, legal or'constructive, as a result of a past event, itis-probable
that the -Group will be required to settie that obligation ‘and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation. can be made:
Provisions are measured at Management's best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the statement of
financial position-date .and-are discounted' to present value where the impact is' material. The unwinding .of any discount is:
recognised in finance costs.

Dilapidation provisions are recognised based on Management's best estimate of costs to make good the Group’s leasehold
properties at the end of the lease term.

1.48 Emiployee benefits: defined contribution benefit scheme:

The Group operates a defined contribution pension scheme which is a post-empioyment benefit plan under which the Group
pays fixed contributions into a fund. The Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund
does-not hold  sufficient assets to pay all employees-the benefits relating to-employee service in the current.and:prior. periods:
Contributions payable to:the fund-are charged to:the statement of comprehensive income inthe period-to which they relate:
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Notes to the consolidated f" nancial statements (contmued)
For the year ended 30 September 2020 . .

.1.17 Share-based payments

The Group provides equity-settled share-based incentive plans whereby ZPG Property Services Holdings Limited and ZPG
Comparison Services Holdings-Limited grants sweet-shares-at unrestricted market-value-to its-employees-of its subsidiaries for
their employment services. Equity-settled share-based payments to employees are measured at the fair value of the equity
instruments at the grant date. Vesting happens over a five-year period with all shares vesting at the date of an exit event if earlier
than five years. The fair value for employee-based schemes is measured using the Black-Scholes valuation model and is charged
to-the-consolidated-statement-of comprehensive-income-over the vesting-pericd-on-a-straight-line-basis:

The Group also issues warrants over shares in ZPG Property Services Holdings Limited to a number of third parties. Fair value
is determined by using discounted cashflows of the benefits accruing to the Group and charged to the consolidated statement of
-comprehensive-income-based on the-expected-value-accrued-over the-life-of the-assets.

Details regarding the determination of the fair value of equity-settled share-based payment transactions are set out in Note 22.
1.18 Revenue recognition

In applying the principles laid out within IFRS 15, the Group accounts for revenue by spreading revenue received over the periods
in which the obligations have been satisfied. Revenue for the Group is recognised by two key divisions based on operations
being Comparison and Property.

Comparison revenue is largely sourced by providing a service that allows users to. compare prices among different service
providers in the energy, communications and finance sectors. Revenue is then recognised at the point in time when a lead is
generated. Where revenue is received for meeting obligations rather than for generating leads the revenue is recognised over
the-period in-which-the-obligation-is-expected-to -be met:

Revenue from the Property division derives principally from subscription to the Group’s property websites and from the provision
of property software to UK domestic, overseas and commercial estate agents along with the provision of property data to financial
and -other institutions. Where-revenue-relates to-a-subscription-or licence-fees the-total-expected revenue-from-each contract
including the initial fees charged for the installation of the software is spread across the life of the that particular contract. Revenue
that is tied to the delivery of separable and identifiable obligations such as portfolio valuations performed by the property data
business is recognised when the obligations are met, and the piece of work has been delivered. All other revenue is spread out
-over the life-of the contract. Where contracts -are-modified during their-initialterm, Management-have-concluded-that-the-services
satisfy the criteria in IFRS 15 paragraph 22 (b) for the services to be accounted for as a series of distinct services that should be
accounted for as a single performance obligation.
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1.191eases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if
the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. The
leases relate to vehicles and properties. To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use .of an-identified:
assets, the'group assesses whether

- The contract involves the use of an identified asset — this may be specified explicitly or implicitly and should be physically
distinct-or represent.substantially all-of the-capacity .of a-physically distinct asset: If the:supplier has- a-substantive:
subscription right then the asset is not identified;

- The group has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from the use of the asset throughout the period
of use;:and-

- Thegroup has the right of direct use of the asset: The group has the right when it has the decision-making rights that dre’
most relevantto changing how and-for what purpose-the-asset is:used: In-rare-cases where-the decision:about how and
for what purpose the asset is used is predetenmnined, the group has the right to.direct the use of the-asset if either:

e The group has the right to operate the asset; or
e The group designed the asset in a way that predetermines how and for what purpose it will be used.

The group reécognises a right-of-use and a {ease liability at the lease commencement date. The right-of«ise aésetis initially
measurement at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjustment for any lease payments made at or
before the commencement.date, plus-any initial direct costs incurred-and an-estimate of cost to-dismantle and:remove the
ufderlying-asset or to restore the underlying-asset or the site onwhich it is focated, less any lease incentives received:

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straightdine method from the commencement date to the earlier
of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term. The estimated useful lives of right-of-use
assets-are determined:on the length of lease term. In :addition, the right:of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment
{6sses; if any, and adjusted for céntain remeasurements of the lease tiability.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commitment date,
discounted-using the interest rate, implicit inthe lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, the Group's:incremental
borrowing rate: Generally, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate.

Lease payments include in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following

- Fixed-payments; including-in substances fixed-payments;

- Varidble lease payments that depend 'on anindexor a rate, initially measured using the index-or rate as'at'the
commencement date;

- Amounts-expected-to be:payable-under a-residual value: of guarantee; and-

- Theexercise priceis-under a purchase option that the group is reasonably certain to exercise; lease payments in:an’
optional renewal period if the group is reasonably certain to exercise an extension option, and penaities for early
termination of a lease unless the group is reasonably certain not to terminate early.

The {ease liability is measured at-amortized cost using the effective interést method: It is remeasured when there 5 a'chanigein’
future lease payment arising from a change in an index or rate, if there is a change in the group’s estimate of the amount
expected to be payable under a residual.value guarantee, or if the group changes-its'assessment of whether it will.exercise a
purchase,; extension or termination-optien:

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a cormresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-
use asset or is recorded in. profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

The group presents right-of-use asseis that do not meet the definition of invéstment property in'property, plant aid equipitient
and lease liabilities in ‘loan and borrowing'’ in the statement of the financial position.

Short-term and-feases of low value assefs

The group has made use of the practical expedient available to not recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short
term leases of computer equipment that have a lease term of twelve months or less and leases of low value assets, including
IT equipment. The group recognises the lease payments associated with these 1eases -as an experise on a straight-line basis
over the fease term.
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1.20 Government grant

The Group placed a number of employees on the Furlough scheme provided by the Government to support the business through
Covid-19 pandemic during the reporting period. Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis against
--the related -costs -for which the -grants are -intended -to-compensate. -Govemment -grants -are -not -recognised: until- there-is-
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be received. The
Group confirmed that all the necessary conditions of the Government furiough scheme have been met. The Group recognised
the grant as a credit against staff costs in the profit and loss account as pemmitted under section 29, IAS 20. The government
-grant amount-is-disclosed in-Note-6: : . '

1.21 Sources of estimation uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements requires the Company’'s management to make judgements, assumptions and estimates

that affect the application-of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income -and-expense: -‘Actual-
results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions

to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that penod orin

the-period-of the-revision and future-periods if the-revision-affects -both-cument and-future-periods.

Recognition and valuation of eam-out agreements

Consideration for the acquisition of Hometrack included a commercial eam-out agreement which is contingent upon the future
-performance-of a ten-year-licence agreement-entered at-the-point-of acquisition. The-settlement-of the.commercial-eam-out-will-
be in the range of £nil to £25 million payable over the ten-year period post acquisition. The eam-out is measured at fair value
using unobservable inputs (level 3) at the point of acquisition using discounted future cashflows under a range of weighted
scenarios requining an estimation of the future performance of the licence agreement. At each reporting period the eam-out will
‘be-measured at fair value-using the-same-method- with- any-changes- from- revaluation-being-recognised-in the statement -of
comprehensive income. If an equal weighting was applied. across the different scenarios in the. model estimating the fair value
of the earn-out, the liability as at 30 September 2020 would increase by £2.2 million.

A total charge of £0.9 million (2019: £14.9 million) was recognised with regards to fair value movements on eam-outs in the year
as-detailed-in-Note-17.

Impairment of goodwill and intangibles

The Group holds goodwill and intangibles on the statement of financial position in respect of business acquisitions made.
Acquired-intangibles include- acquired-goodwill; brands, -customer relationships, and- software-of which- £2,589- million {2019:
£2,660 million) has been recognised as at 30 September 2020. The Group is required to review these assets annuaily for
impairment. Determining whether goodwill and intangible assets are impaired requires an estimation of the recoverable value of
therelevant-cash-generating unit, which-represents the higher-of fairvalue and value-in-use. The-value-in-use calculation-requires
an estimation of future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit, discounted using a suitable discount rate to
determine if any impairment has occurred.

The impairment review has concluded that the carrying value of the Group's intangible assets is supported by the value in use

-of the-respective-cash-generating -units. Details -of the-impairment analysis, including: key estimates: and- assumptions, and
sensitivity over the estimates used, are included in Note 12.
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'1.22 Key-accounting judgements:
Accounting for warrants

The Group-has:historically-entered into- agreements ‘with ‘certain third ‘parties whereby the Group -offers-warrants-over its-.own
shirés Or its subsidiariés’ shares. Durifig the prior period; the Grotip signed néw wairant agreéments with  thitd parties and:
judgement is required to determine the appropriate accounting treatment. With the assistance of independent third-party experts
Management has performed an extensive exercise to demonstrate that the service provided under the warrant agreements is
both-distinct from' the .obligations-under the existing commercial service agreements-and- that the .agreements- have a reliably
fneasurable:fair vatue: Cofnsequently,; the Directors have concluded that the warrant agreements 'should-be:accounted for undér
IFRS 2, as a share-based payments charge, and not as a deduction to revenue under IFRS 15.

Share based payment:charges are calculated using discounted:cash flows of the accrued benefit of the Group. The share based-
sayiEntis charged to-the consolidated statement of comprehansive iicome based o the expected value AccrIEd:dvér the life:
of the assets.

“Recognition-of acGuired intangibles on-acqGuisition:

During the prior period, the Group completed its acquisition of ZPG Plc. The process of determining the fair value of intangible
assets acquired in the acquisition involves reviewing the past performance of the acquiree and future forecasts to ascertain the
intangible agsets which the-purchase pricé sholld bé ‘allécatedto. Thé détails of asséts and liabilities recégnised upon acquisition’
is set'out'in Note 10:

The Group engaged third party valuation experts for ZPG Pic following the acquisition to mitigate the rnisk associated with the

valuation-of assets:and liabilities-upon-acquisition: Intangibles:recognised-are subsequently.amortised:over their.uséful.economic:
fives; as'such; ho:future revaluation of the-assets recognised will be made:except for the purposes of impaifment reviews;
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For the year ended 30 September 2020

2. Revenue

The Group’s revenue is derived from the temitories in which the Group operates as listed in the table below.
; g : !

03/05/2018 -
2020 - 30/09/2019
-£000- . £000-
UK 279,673 372,070
Netherlands 9.120 11.538
. Total 288,793 383,608
3. Operating loss
03/05/2018 —
-2020- -30/09/2019-
. £000 £000
o Operating profit/(loss) is stated after charging:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 13) 5,121 5,951
Amortisation-of intangible assets-arising-on-acquisitions (Note 12)- 75,061 ‘90,827
Share-based payments (Note 22) 7,544 8,349
Asset write-offs ) 4,367 . 7,792
Acquisition-related costs’ - 38,577
Deferred consideration (Note 17) 866 15,683
4. Finance costs
03/05/2018 -
-2020- -30/09/2019-
£000 £000
Interest costs 49,436 71,699
Amortisation of capitalised fees 3,652 9,182
~ ‘Otherfinance costs 234 306
"Interest expense on leases 1,949 1,892
Unrealised foreign exchange loss 9,291 3,310
‘Realised foreign-exchange loss” - 178
Total finance costs 64,562 86,567

30



Zephyr Midco 2 Limited

Notes to-the:consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 30 September 2020

5. Auditor's remuneration
03/05/2018 -
2020 30/09/2019
£000 £000
Fees payable to the Group's auditor and its associates:
— for the audit of Zephyr Midco 2 Limited and the consolidated financial statements 112 163
- for the audit of subsidiaries of Zephyr Midco 2 Limited 289 212
Total audit-fees- B 40%- 375.
Fees payable to the Group's auditor and its associates for other services to the Group:
- Audit related assurance services 6 6
— Other-senvices- 275 519-

Total non-audit fees 281 525

Included within-other services-are the tax advisory works:performed:during-the year (2019: acquisition related: restructuring’
,,,,, ): ‘

§. Employee costs

e 03/06/2018 -
2020 3010972019
£000 £000

Staff-costs-(including- Directors)-comprise:- o R
Wages andsalaries’ 45,114 55597
Social security costs 5,570 6,599
Defined contribution pension costs 1,885 2,119
Share-based-payments-(Note 22) - 1,785 - 844-
54,354 65,159

“The:Group has placed a number of employees on: Furlough scheme provided by the:Govemment {o:support the businessin:
Covid-19 pandemic during the reporting period. Included in the staff costs is a credit of £1.2m relating to the Furlough scheme
claim.

03/05/2018 —

2020 30/09/2019

.Number .Number

Administration 884 859
Management 5 5
‘ 889, 864

7. Remuneration of key management personnel

L -03/05/2018 -

2020 3070972019

£000 £000

Salary,-benefits-and-bonus- 845- " 1,776
Termination benefits 127 740
972 - 2,528-

Key management personnel during the period comprise the Chairman, the Directors, the Chief Financial Officer and the
Managing Directors of Property and Comparison.

The fighest'paid -Director. received remuneration including pension contributions aiid compensation for foss of office of £0.7:
mitfion.
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‘8. income tax expense’

03/05/2018 -
) . , o . 2020 30/09/2019
. £000- £000-
Current tax :
Current period 5.310 20.410
Adjustments in respect of pre-acquisition periods for acquired entities - - (324)
Adjustmentin-respect-of prior periods- 8,078y -
Total current tax ' (2,768) 20,086
Deferred tax , .

" Origination and reversal of temporary differences (10;793) (15,086)
Adjustment in respect of prior periods (3,491) -
Effect of tax rate change on opening balance 27,049. -
Total deferred"tax 42,764 (15,086)
Total income tax expense 9,996 5,000

Corporation tax is calculated at 19% of the taxable loss for the period. The charge for the period can be reconciled to the loss in

the-statement-of-comprehensive-income as follows:

03/05/2018 -

2020 .30/09/2048-

£000 £000

Loss before tax (38,331) (103,059)
Current corporation tax rate of 19% (7,283) (19,582)
Fixed-asset differences 24 257
Non-deductible expenses 2,908 21,487
Income not taxable for tax purposes (1,149) -
R&D-expenditure-credits’ : 54 -
Capital.gains 146 4,275
Adjustments in respect of prior periods (8,078) (324)
Adjustments-in-respect-of prior periods {deferred tax) 3,491y -
Impact of deferred tax rate changes 27,049 (508)
Difference in overseas tax rates - (114)
-‘Other-movements” {184) {491)
Total income tax expense 9,996 5,000

The prior year adjustments are mainly due to changes in estimates in two areas, namely change in Corporation Interest
Restriction: (“CIR") -estimate- and- wamants: ‘market value- -estimate- which incurred £8:8m- and £1.9m -prior year
adjustments respectively. The change in CIR estimate is due to the election for the group ratio rule as opposed to fixed ratio rule.
The -change in-warrant market value-estimate is resulting from a-different-valuation approach used {o the-provisional-stage: The-
prior year adjustments arose due to the changes in estimates to the provisional stage in the abovementioned areas rather than

any errors incurred in the period.

Finance Bill 2016 enacted provisions to reduce the main rate of UK corporation tax to 17% from 1 April 2020. However, in the
‘March- 2020-Budget-it was announced that the-reduction in the-UK rate-to 17% will not-occur and the-Corporation Tax Rate-will:
be held at 19%. As the UK tax rate remains at 19%, the Group's deferred tax liabilities recorded in the United Kingdom have
been revalued at the higher 19% rate. The Group recorded a tax expense of £27.1m during the year, associated with the change

in tax rates.

The Group's effective tax rate for the year ended 30 September 2020 is 28.8% (2019: 4.9%).
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9. Investment in subsidiaries and joint ventures

.Details-of the Company’s direct-and indirect subsidiaries and-joint ventures as at-30:September-2020-are shown-below: All-of the
entities listed are consotidated ih the Consolidated actoiints'of Zephyr Midco 2 Limited; the iltimate parent comipatiy of the Grotip:

The percentage of Ordinary Share capital of each subsidiary listed is owned entirely by the direct parent indicated other than in
respect.of Websky Limited where 75%:0f Ordinary Share capitalis:owned:by W New Holdings Limited:with-Zoopla:Limited-owning:
the:remaining 25%. : ‘

Zephyr Bidco Limited is the only direct subsidiary of Zephyr Midco.2 Limited.

ANBiibEidiaries incomporated in the UK arerégistered at The Cooperage, 5:Copper Row, Lohden SEL 2UH:

The subsidiary incorporated in Netherlands, namely Calcasa B.V,, is registered at Koommarkt 41, 2611EB Delft, The
Netherlands.

HUIX Limited did-not trade i the period:
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9. Investment in subsidiaries and joint ventures (continued)

Ownership of Ordinary

-Shares-and-voting-
Country of interest
Name Direct parent incorporation 2020
Active
Zephyr Bidco Limited* Zephyr Midco 2 Limited United Kingdom 100%
ZPG Limited* Zephyr Bidco Limited United Kingdom 100%
ZPG-Property Services Holdings ZPG-Limited- Cayman-islands 100%
Limited
ZPG Property Services Holdings ZPG Property Services Holdings United Kingdom 100%
UK Limited* Limited
ZPG Comparison Services ZPG-Limited- -Cayman-islands 100%-
Holdings Limited
ZPG Comparison Services ZPG Comparison Services Holdings United Kingdom 100%
Holdings UK Limited* Limited .
Zoopla-Limited ZPG-Limited United-Kingdom- 100%
Ravensworth Printing Services Zoopla Limited United Kingdom 100%
Limited*
W New Holdings Limited* Zoopla Limited United Kingdom 100%
‘Websky Limited” W New Holdings-Limited / United-Kingdom- 100%-
Zoopla Limited
TechnicWeb Limited* Zoopla Limited United Kingdom 100%
uSwitch Limited ZPG Limited United Kingdom 100%
Property Software Holdings ZPG-Limited ‘United Kingdom- N 100%
Limited*
Jupix Limited* Property Software Holdings Limited United Kingdom 100%
MovelT Network Limited* Jupix Limited United Kingdom 100%
‘Property Software-Limited* Property Software-Holdings Limited ‘United-Kingdom: 100%
Core Estates Limited* Property Software Limited United Kingdom 100%
CFP Software Limited* Property Software Limited United Kingdom 100%
Vebra Investments Limited* Property Software Limited United Kingdom 100%
Vebra Limited* Vebra-investments Limited United-Kingdom | 100%
Vebra Solutions Limited* Vebra Limited United Kingdom - 100%
Hometrack.co.uk Limited* ZPG Limited United Kingdom 100%
Hometrack Data Systems Limited Hometrack.co.uk Limited United Kingdom 100%
‘Dot Zinc Holdings Limited* ZPG-Limited- -‘United-Kingdom- 100%-
Dot Zinc Limited Dot Zinc Holdings Limited United Kingdom 100%
ZPG Property Services Limited* ZPG Limited United Kingdom 100%
Calcasa B.V. ZPG Property Services Limited Netherlands ' " 100%
Dormmant
PSG Web Services Limited* Vebra Limited United Kingdom 100%
Real Estate Technology Limited* Vebra Limited United Kingdom 100%
Joint ventures .
HLIX Limited Hometrack Data Systems Limited United Kingdom 25%

*For the period or year ended 30 September 2020 these entities were entitled to exemption from audit under section 479A of the
Companies Act 2006 relating to subsidiary companies. The members of these companies have not required them to obtain an
audit of their financial statements for the period or year ended 30 Septerber 2020.
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"10: Acquisitions— ZPG Pic’

On 11 July 2018 Zephyr Bidco Limited (“Bidco”) completed its acquisition of ZPG Pic through the purchase of 100% of the issued

-$hare capital-6f ZPG. PICTor a total consideration of £2,430.4 million (nét of cash’acquired) as measured in accordance with IFRS
3

The Group has completed its assessment of the fair value of assets acquired as set out below. In calculating the goodwill arising
.on-acquisition the fair value .of net assets acquired was assessed and no material adjustments from book value were made to’
€xisting assets and-liabilities other than the recognition of liabilities arising-directly as a resuit of the ‘acquisition.

The Group has also recognised a number of separately identifiable intangibles as part of the acquisition, details of which are set
out in the table below.

“Since 'the ‘acqissition date xhe “aogiired companies have contributed £383.6m fo “Group. revenie and £103. 1 to: Grolip 1655
before tax for the period ended 30 September 2019.

£m
Property, plant and equipment 11.3
Trade and other receivables 46.0
Trade anid:othér payables {90.6)-
Investments held at fair value 6.5
Corporation tax asset- 5.7
Provisions {25):
Intangible software assets ' 14.2
Deferred and contingent consideration (69.0)
Deferred tax-asset- ‘ -2.6.
Total net liabilities acquired (75.8)
Intangible assets: recognised-on-acquisition:-
—Brand’ 713.9-
— Customer relationships ‘ 545.6
- Technology and software 49.1
Deferred taxhiabiity ‘arising ‘on intangible assels . {223:9)-
Goodwill on acquisition 1,4215
2,4304
‘Satisfied by:
Cash consideration 2,213.8
" _Net debt assumed 216.6
" Totalconsideration. - . , 2,8430:4-

Brand are the brand names owned and utilised by the Group, in particular but not fimited to Zoopla, uSwitch and Money

- Customer relationships-are .developed' by working with real estate agents .developers, .lenders; .and utilities" for. many years-
“providing access to:its portals-and providing:software and valuation-products andservices;

The Technology-and -Software - asset incorporates the -underlyingcore technology of the products, methods, and-processes-
‘reflected in the technology “and Software of the Gfoup:

The following table sets out the amounts included in the consolidated statement of cash flows:

£000.
Cash consideration, net of cash acquired on acquisition (2,166,790)
Cash expenses incurred on acquisition___ L » ] , (38,577)
“Cash.outflow-on acquisition-of subsidiaries - {2.205;367):
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11. Derivative financial assets

2020 ' 2019

Derivative financial assets * £000 £000
Cross-currency interest rate swap. contracts 5440 o -
’ ‘ 5,440 B

12. Intangible assets

Customer  Technology and

Goodwill Brand refationships software Other software Total

. £000 i £000 £000 £000 £000° . £000
Cost :
At 1 October 2019 1,421,564 713,852 545,585 74,632 200 2,755,833
Additions - - - 8,061 3 8,064
Disposals . : ’ - : - - - - -
Impairment ' - (1,057) (3,058) (1,077) - (5,192)
At 30 September 2020 1,421,564 712,795 542,527 81,616 203 2,758,705
Amortisation
At 1 October 2019 - X 38,581 39,810 17,048 44 95,483
Charge for the period - 31,277 32,274 11,442 68 75,061
Disposals ' - - - - - -
Impairment - (235) . (400) (263) - (898)
At 30 September 2020 - 69,623 71,684 28,227 112 169,646
Net book value
At 30 September 2019 1,421,564 675,271 505,775 57,584 156 2,660,350
At 30 September 2020 1,421,564 643,172 470,843 53,389 91 2,589,059

‘Goodwill and' intangibles are tested for impairment by comparing the carrying amount of the groups of cash-generating unit
(CGU) with its recoverable amount, which represents the higher of its estimated fair value less cost to sell and value in use An
impairment loss is recognised when the carrying value of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount.

The Group has impaired £3.5m of acquired intangible assets related to Ravensworth customer relationships and brand in the
year. The intangible assets held within Ravensworth Printing Services Limited totalling £0.4m were fully impaired.

The intangible assets relate to four separate business units being Comparison, Property Marketing, Property Software and
‘Property -Data. -Goodwill and intangibles-are- monitored-at this-leve! and-allocated to-each business unit-per the table-below:

Goodwill  Other intangibles Total

£000 £000 £000

Property Marketing 558,186 461,678 1,019,864
Property Software 154,290 77,578 231,868
Property Data 329,505 121,486 450,991
Comparison 379,583 506,753 886,336

At 30 September 2020 1,421,564 1,167,495 2,589,059

The recoverable amounts of intangible assets and goodwill are based on their value in use, which is determined using cash flow
-projections for-each- business -unit. The projections are-based on a five-year forecast that reflects the-Directors expectation of
revenue, EBITDA growth, capital expenditure, working capital and operating cashflows. Cash flows beyond the five-year forecast
have been extrapolated using a long-term growth rate.
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12. Intangible assets (conﬁnuéd)

The key.assumptions for the value in'use calculations are those regarding discount rates, cash-flow forecasts and the long-temm
Growth ratés. The posttax-discount rate used for Property Marketing; Property Software, Property Data énd Compaiisohweére:
9.5%, 9.0%, 9.0% and 10.0% respectively (2019: 8.5%, 9.5%, 8.5% and 10.0%). The post-tax adjusted discount rate is derived
from'the weighted average cost.of capital.(“‘WACC®). The .Group has -used the CapitalAsset Pricing Model ("CAPM") approach
{o-estimate the WACC for each separate business umits:

The long-temm growth rates beyond the five-year period have been determined with reference to the long term growth for each
business unit in the PPA exercise, long term growth rates in the technology industry and other relevant data points to each
business unit. The long term growth rate used for Property Marketing, Property Software, Property Data-and Comparison-were
4:0%, 4:7%, 3.7%.and 3:5% réspectively (2019: 4:0%, 5:6%, 4.8% and 35%):

The cash flow forecast is derived based on the forecast EBITDA of each business unit. The forecast cash flow has factored in
the financialimpact from the free.of charge contract offered’in property marketing during'the period; VAT deferral'scheme .and
ottiér impacts from ‘Covid-13 pandemic.

The analysis performed calculates that the recoverable amount of each business unit’'s assets exceeds their carrying value, as
such no impairment was identified. Headroom is noted in all business. units.

The Grotip-has perforimed a ‘sensitivity ahatysis on forecast EBITDA and WAGC.

e  For Property Marketing and Software, the headroom would be removed if the pre-tax WACC increases by 0.3% and
1.8% respectively. Should-the pre-tax WACC: increase:by 0.5%; Property Marketing will-incur negative-headroom: of
“£47m whilst Property. Software:will retain a positive headroom of £40m.

»  For Property Marketing and Software, the headroom would be removed if the EBITDA growth rate for the next five
years reduced by 5% and 6% against forecast respectively. Should the EBITDA growth ratefor the next five-years-
reduce By 7% against forecast, Property Marketing and Property Software will inciir a negative héad réom of £ 106
and £9m respectively.

‘The Groiip:believes the above scenarios are uniikely.to.occur and-therefore no-impainnent shoild be recognised:

‘Management will continue to review the forecasts and the WACC ‘on-an ongoing basis to confirn that the camying value is-not
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13. Property, plant and equipment

‘Fixtures Freehoid Computer Leasehold Right-of-use
and fittings property equipment improvements " leases . © Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 . £000
Cost™
At 1 October 2019 2,116 383 3,075 6,224 34,424 46,222
Additions 311 . - - 397 78 1,022 1,808
Disposals (232) ' - (80) ‘ (102) - {414y
. At 30 September 2020 2,195 383 3,392 6,200 35,446 47,616
- Accumulated depreciation
At 1 October 2019 1,114 189 1,856 1,154 3,438 7,751
‘Charge for the period 385 4 697 437 3,598 5,121
Disposals (172) - (80) (88) - (340)
At 30 September 2020 ) 1,327 . 193 2,473 1,503 7,036 - 12,532
Net book value
At 30 September 2020 - 868 190 - 919 4,697 28,410 35,084
At 30 September 2019 1,002 194 . 1,219 . 5,070 30,986 38,471

The carrying value of vehicié and property right-of-use assets at'30-September 2020 aré £0.5 miltion and £27.9 m.ilﬁon
respectively.

14. Investments held at fair value through other comprehensive income

2020 2019

£000 £000
At-1-October: -6,205- 6,524
Additions 36 100
Fair value movements 900 M
Disposals - (96)
Impairment - {431y
At 30 September 7,141 6,205

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income assets represent the Group’s strategic partnerships with a
number of UK Proptech and Fintech companies and other equity investments which do not give the Group significant influence-
over that entity.

15. Trade and other receivables

2020 2019

, £000 £000

Trade receivables 18,084 25,117
Accrued income 45,084 28,350
Prepayments 3,397 4,440
Other receivables 623 683
67,188 58,590

All trade and other receivables are classified as current assets. The increase in accrued income is driven by the new free of
charge contracts in the year.

Details of the Group's exposure to credit risk are given in Note 24.
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'16. Trade and-otherpayables-

2020 2019

£000 £000

Tradepayables- 18092 10642:
Accruais 16,277 18,193
Other taxation-and-social security payments- . . 18,446 8,840
peéferred inconie’ 2:383 5,057
Other payables 1,139 2,231
‘56337 44,963

The Directors consider that the .carrying value .of trade and other payables is:approximate to:their fair value.. Details:.of the

" Groip's exposure toliquidity rigk are givenin:Note'24. Alltrade and other payables are considered current fiabilities;

Lease liabilities 2020 2019
. _£000- £000

Cifrent: 5,469° 4,326
Non-current 27,617 27,756
33,086 32,082

.During-the-reporting:period; £1:9m(2019: £4:0m) in-financial-liabilities were paid-in-the-pericd-and-£1-9m-(2019: £1:9m)-of

interest was ¢hiarged to the profit'and foss accountin the period:

During the reporting pen'dd, the Group has defemed lease payments of £1.4 million as part of cost savings activities in

response-to-Covid-19. The Group has taken-the practical-expedient which:allowsalessee to-elect not to.assess whether a:
" Govid-19:related rent'concession isa lease modification. The amount recognisedin pref it-or foss which refiects the'chanhgés'in:

feasepayiments anising ffom rént concessions isnit:
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17. Deferred and contingent consideration

The Group's acquisition of ZPG Plc did not include any deferred consideration payments. The table below details the movements
in deferred consideration from acquisitions made by ZPG Plc prior to the 11 July 2018.

‘A further £0.4 million was recognised in respect of Calcasa B.V (“Calcasa”) in the period. A release of the contingent consideration
on the Calcasa acquisition of £21.3m was recognised on the settiement of the agreement.

Judgement is made on the Hometrack eam-out with eight potential outcomes being weighted based on probability of realisation.
Detailed disclosure on the judgement is disclosed in Note 1.22. A fair value movement of £0.4m was recognised in respect of
Hometrack earn-out. If all eight scenarios were weighted equally the deferred consideration on that agreement would be an

additional £2.2m,

During the year the Group also settled £22.8 million due in respect of Hometrack, Ravensworth and Calcasa. Of the £22.8 million,
£22.5 million of deferred and contingent consideration settled during the year was conditional on continued employment of

Management.

. Contingent
' Deferred consideration  consideration eam-out Total
£000 £000 £000
At 1 October 2019 500 37,822 38,322
Changes in fair value - 866 866
Hometrack payment - (1,279) (1,.279)
Ravensworth payment (250) - (250)
Calcasa payment - (20,022) (20,022)
Gain on foreign currency transiation - (1,269) (1,269)
At 30 September 2020 250 16,118 16,368
Current 250 9,589 9,839
Non-current - 6,529 6,529
Contingent
Deferred consideration  consideration eam-out ~ Total
£000 £000 £000
At 4 May 2018 - - -
. 9,468 59,547 69,015
Acquired

Charge in the period for amounts conditional on the 798 - 798

continued employment of Management . X
Changes in fair value 19 14,866 14,885
Money payment - (18,386) (18,386)
TechnicWeb payment - (589) (589)
'Expert Agent payment (7,000) - (7,000)
"Hometrack payment (2,285) (1.239) " (3,524)
Ravensworth payment (500) - (500)
Calcasa payment - (16,377) (16,377)
At 30 September 2019 500 37,822 38,322
Current 250 22,286 22,536
Non-current 250 15,536 15,786
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17. Deferved and-contingent consideration {continued).

Thé fair vialliés of the Group's liabiliti€s in respect of deferred and contingent consideration arising on acquisitions are set out

‘Below and dre considered equal to their carrying vatue.

Contingent :
Deferred consideration  consideration earn-out Total
£000 £000 £000
Hometrack = 7,108 7,108
Money - 1,912 1,912
Calcasa - 7,088 7,098
Ravensworth- 250 - 250-
At 30 September 2020 250 16,118 16,368
Continget
Deferred consideration  consideration eam-out Total
£000 _£000 _£000
‘Hometrack. = 7,958 7,958
Money - 1,912 1,912
Calcasa - 27,952 27,952
Ravensworth 500 - 500
At 30 September 2019 500 37,822 38,322
.48: Provisions
The movement in provisions can be analysed as follows:
Dilapidation provisions Other Total

£000 £000 _£000
At'{"October 2019 2,284 101 2,385
Recognised in the period 300 - 300
Released in the period (609) (101) (710)
“At-30 September 2020. 1.975- - 1.975.
Current - - -
‘Nonscurrent 1,975 - 1.975.

Dilapidation provisions Other Total

£000 £000 £000
At4 May 2018; - - -
Acquired 1,720 757 2,477
Recognised in the period 564 101 665
Released in the period- - (757) {757)
At 30 September 2019 2,284 101 2,385
Current - 101 104
Non-current. 2,284. - 2,284

The dilapidation provisions relate to Management's best estimate of costs to make good the Group's leasehold properties at the
end of the lease term. The amount recognised in the period represents a provision for dilapidations in the Group’s office previously
.used by Money.co:uk: The dilapidations provision related to Money.co.uk was fully released following the end of the property
{ease in January 2620
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Zephyr Midco 2 Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 30 September 2020

19. Loans and borrowings

The loans taken out by the Group are made up of the following;

-~ Multicurrency revolving credit facility capped at £150 million available to be drawn until December 2024 and maturing in

January-2025 (facility remains undrawn as at 30 September 2020);

- Term loans denominated in GBP totalling £575 million, £395 million maturing in July 2025 at Libor + 4. 25% and £180 million

maturing in January 2024 at Libor + 7.5%; and
= Term loans denominated in Euro totalling €400 million maturing in July 2025 at 3.25%.

2020 2019
£000 © £000
Opening gross borrowings 930,023 -
Acquired borrowings - 259,659
Repayment of Unsecured Senior Loan Notes - (200,000)
Repayment of old Revolving Credit Facility - (64,000)
Repayment of Revolving Credit Facility (150,000) -
Drawings on Revolving Credit Facility 150,000 -
Wiritten off Capitalised Fees on Senior Loan Notes e 4,341
Proceeds from Extemal Bomrowings - 930,023
Unrealised FX Translation Loss on External Borrowungs 9,291 -
Gross borrowings 939,314 930,023
Capitalised arrangement fees {(17,531) (21,183)
" Total loans and borrowings 921,783 908,840
The Group has no other loans or borrowings. Further detail on borrowings is provided in Note 24.
Leases
As at 30 September 2020 the balance sheet contains the following amounts that relate to assets leased by the Group.’
2020 2019
£000 £000
Right-of-use assets
‘Buildings \ 27,925 30,659
Vehicles 484 326
28,409 30,985
Lease liabilities :
Current 5,469 . 4,326
Non-current : 27,617 - . 27,756
‘ 33,086 32,082

The depreciation charge of the right-of-use assets is presented in Note 13. The interest expense of the lease liabilities and

maturity of interest payments are presented in Note 4 and Note 24 respectively.
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Zephyr Midco 2 Limited

‘Notes to-the consolidated financial statements (continueq)

For the year ended 30 September 2020

20. Deferred tax

Property, plant
and equipment
.and.computer

-Intangible :Share-based

. £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Deferred tax (liability)/asset at 1 October 2019 (1,863) (205,093) (133) 862  (206,227)

(Char'ge)lcq'edit'{o:émfﬁ'of {oss: {226y 13,744 - {2,731) 10,793

Charge to equity - - - (1,047) (1,047)

Effect of tax rate change on opening balance - (27,049) - - (27,049)

‘Prior-year-adjustment (184)- - 133 3542 3491,
Deferred tax (liability)/asset at 30 September 2020 (2,267) (218,398) L. 626  (220,039)

“Deferred-tax (liability)/asset at' 1 October 2018; - - - - -
On acquisitions & disposal - (223,880) 651 © 3,899 (219,330)

(Charge)/credit to profit or loss (1,863) 18,787 (784) (3,037) 13,103

-Deferred:tax.(liability)/asset at:30 September 2019- (1.863). (205,093) (133) 862. (206,227).

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where the Group has a legally enforceable right to do so. Deferred tax assets have
been recognised in respect of all temporary differences giving rise-to-income tax assets because it is probable that these:assets

will-be recoverabie.

- The following is an analysis of the deferred tax balances (after offset) for financial reporting purposes:

2020 2019
Deferred tax liabilities (220,664) (207,091)
Deferred tax assets 625 864
‘Net-deferred-tax liabilities {220,039):  (206;227)-
21. Equity
‘Stiare capital:
2020 2019
_£oo0 _£000
‘Shares classified-as capital
Authorised
171,980,000,000 shares of £0.01 each 1,719,800 1,719,800
“Calied-ip’share capital — altotted and fullypaid:
171,980,000,000 Ordinary Shares of £0.01 each 1,719,800 1,719,800

“Crdinary-shares’

The. gﬁq,iﬂr:iaff'yf_shg;r'éfs}'b}aye,_fu_ll»_v,oting, dividend and capital distribution (including on winding up) rights; they do not confer any
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Zephyr Midco 2 Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continueq)
For the year ended 30 September 2020

22. Warrants and Employee share schemes

The Group operates a number of share-based incentive schemes for both its employees and certain third parties.

The Group recognised a total share-based payment charge of £7.5 million (2019 (15 months period): £8.3 mjllioﬁ) in the period.
Employee share schemes - .

Management Equity Plan: Selected management are invited to subscribe in cash to sweet shares in ZPG Property Holdings
Limited and ZPG Comparison Holdings Limited. The subscription price is based on an unrestricted market value calculated on
a quarterly basis by an independent expert. .

Value Incentive plan: The remainder of the permanent workforce were invited to subscribe to the Value Incentive Plan to sweet
shares in ZPG Property Holdings Limited and ZPG Comparison Holdings Limited in January 2019. The subscription price for
employees who accepted the invitation to subscribe in January 2019 was funded by the Group in the form of a bonus
expensed through payroll. Subscription for future entrants to this scheme is funded via a non-recourse loan. The subscription
price is based on an unrestricted market value calculated on a quarterly basis by an independent expert.

Hard Equity Plan: A number of employees were invited to subscribe to shares in Zephyr Holdco Limited, the parent of the
Group. Subscription to these shares was on a cash basis.

The share-based payment charges for the Management Equity Plan, the Value Incentive Plan and the Hard Equity Plan are
* calculated using the Black Scholes model and the charge is spread straight line over a five-year period. The volatility used in
the model of 39.4% is based on volatility in the shares of a comparable listed company. The inputs are as follows. .

Property Metrics Comparison matrix Group
Oct to Jan to Aprto Jul to Janto Janto Aprto Jul to Janto
Grant Date Dec19 | Mar20 | Jun20 | Seprz0 | SantDate Mar19 | Mar19 | Jun19 | Sept1o | GrmDate | no 49
Risk free rate 25% 25% 2.5% 25% | Riskfree rate 25% 25% 25% 25% | Risk free rate 3.5%
Volatility 384% | 394% 39.4% 39.4% | Volatiity 394% | 39.4% 39.4% 39.4% | Volatility 22.4%
Dividend
Dividend yield 0 o 0 o Dividend yield 0 0 0 0 yield 0
"Stock price 18.72 19.58 18.26 18.67 | Stock price 12.94 13.09 11.71 11.52 | Stock price 0.02
. . }| Exercise
Exercise price 1.40 1.42 1.22 1.20 Exerise pri 1.17 221 262 3.18 price 0.01
Term 4.08 384 3.59 333 | Tem | 408 | 384 3.59 3.33 Term 5.00

The Group has the right to repurchase the shares in the event of a participant leaving the employment of the Group.

Management Equity Plan Value incentive Plan Hard Equity Plan
Weighted - Weighted Weighted
average average average
Number exercise price Number exercise price Number exercise price
'000 £ '000 £ '000 £
Outstanding at the beginning of the 506 1.15 121 1.12 218,176 0.01
period ’

Granted 184 1.47 25 1.75 - -
Exercised during the period - - - - - -
Forfeited during the period (119) 1.18 (31) 1.14 (2,943) - 0.01
" Outstanding options at the end of the 571 1.25 115 1.25 215,233 0.01

period .

Warrants: The Group granted warrants to third parties in the year. The charge for the period amounted to £5.8m. A cash
settlement of £0.4m was paid in year. The Group has granted 58,738 (2019 (15 months period): 1m) warrants to third parties
during the year ended 30 September 2020.



Zephyr Midco 2 Limited

Notes to the-consolidated financial statements: (continued)
For the year ended 30 September 2020

23. Related party transactions.
Key management personnel

The following were .considered to be key management personnel.of the Group.during the period: The Chaiman, the Directors,
{he Chief Financial Officér; the Managing Directors of Property ahd Comparison.

Other Group companies

Details of transactions with subsidiaries are outlined in-the Company’s financia! statements. Transactions with other consolidated
entities have been eliminated on consotidation.

Other related parties

During the period the Group settled invoices for services provided from Silver Lake Management Company V and Red Ventures
Limited aiid AEC Holdings Limited who are all are related parties, for the provision of staff aitd cominercial services in the period:
during and following the acquisition. The total of these invoices was £15.6m excluding VAT.

There 'were o material transactions with any other related party in the pered.
24. Financial instruments
“Camying amoiint and fair value ‘of finaiicial asséts and fiabilities -

The Group has shareholdings and commercial arrangements with a number of other entities. Where these holdings do not give
the Group significant influence over the entity the holdings are classified as financial assets at fair value through- other
comprehensive income: Details for financial assets-at fair value through-other comprehensive income are included-in Note 14.
The valuation of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income are based on level 2 inputs and level 3 inputs.
£2.0 million of the investments held at fair value through OCl are measured using level 3 inputs, and £5.2 million of the
invéstments ‘held: at fair value through OCI are measured using level 2 inputs. The Group usés publicly. available financial
information for level 2 asset and the last available financial information for level 3 asset to determine the fair value of its
“shareholding-and ‘any warrants held: The fair value of these assets is equal to their carmying vakse.

All other financial assets, including cash and cash equivalents, are designated as “Loans and receivables” and are held at
amortised cost. All financial liabilities are classified as other liabilities and are measured at amortised cost except for deferred
and.contihgent cofisidération which have been classified ‘as financial liabilities camied at fairvalue. The Directors considerthat
the carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities recorded .at amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements are
approximate to their fairvatues.

Financial risk management
The Group is €xposed to the following risks froff financial ifstriments:

- credit risk;
- .market risk; and

- fiquidity risk.
Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of fifanicial 10ss to the Group if a customeror bank {“counterparty”) fails to mieet its contractiial bligations.
The Group's maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of each period was equal to the carrying amount of financial assets
recorded in the consolidated financial statements. The exposure to credit risk is influenced by the individual characteristics of
each-counterparty. When calculating the -expected-credit {oss, the ‘Group-has considered forward locking and macroeconomic
factors such as the potential UK recession.

The potential for custoimier default varies between the Group’s two divisions. The customerbase of the Property division is 1aige,
so there is no significant concentration of credit risk. The Comparison division operates in a market with a small number of

customers, which creates a concentration of debtor balances, and from time to time the amounts due from one or a number of
' siippliers may be material. However, customers within this market are often {arge energy and-telecommunications organisations
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Zephyr Midco 2 Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 30 September 2020

24. Financial instrumenls (continued)

with high credit ratings and access to significant funds. The Group’s largest customer contributed 9.7% of the Group’s trade
receivables balance as at period end date.

The Group manages counterparty risk on its trade receivables and accrued income through strict credit control quality measures
and regular aged debt monitoring procedures. The Group reserves the right to charge interest on overdue receivables, although
it does not hold collateral over any trade receivable balances. Overdue amounts are regulary reviewed, and impairment
provisions are created where necessary. This provision is reviewed regularly in conjunction with a detailed analysis of ageing
profile, historical payment profiles and past default experience. The Group has Iong-standmg relatlonshlps with its key customers
and extremely low historical levels of customer credit defaults.

" The ageing of trade receivables at the period end is as follows:

+

. 2020
Expected credit loss rate - Estimated total gross Lifetime ECL
carrying amount at defautt :
£000 £000
0-30 days 0.56% 14,900 (84)
31-60 days 6.23% 1.649 (103).
61-90 days 13.48% 1,228 (165)
91+ days ) 13.14% . 3,131 (411)
Total 20,908 (763)
2019
Expected credit loss rate Estimated total gross Lifetime ECL
carrying amount at defauit ’
£000 £000
0-30 days 0.32% 14,514 . (46)
31-60 days 1.86% 4,784 : (89}
61-90 days 3.31% 1,874 i (62)
91+ days . 121% 4,712 (570)
Total 25,884 ) (767)

In.determining the recoverability of a trade receivable, the Group considers any change in the credit quality of the trade receivable
from the date credit was granted up to the period end date.

Receivables written off during the period to 30 September 2020 totalled £0.8m. As at 30 September 2020 reoelvables of £17.5m
(2019: £10.6m) were past due but not impaired.

The credit risk associated with bank and deposit balances is mitigated by the use of banks with good credit ratings.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in foreign exchange and interest rates will affect the income and financial management of the
Group. The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk as a result of the €400 million term debt it holds which was part of the
funding taken out in order to acquire the Group.

2020 2019

Impact on post-tax profit impact on post-tax profit

£000 £000

GBP/EUR exchange rate — increase 10% (36,431) (35,502)
GBP/EUR exchange rate — decrease 10% 36.431 35,502

As at 30 September 2020 the Group's borrowings are detailed in Note 19.
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Zephyr Midco 2 Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 30 September 2020

24. Financial instruments {(continued)
Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk refers o the ability of the Group {0 meet the obligations associated with its financial fiabilities that are settledin-cash
as they fall due. Management regularly reviews performance against budgets and forecasts to ensure sufficient cash funds are
“available to meet:its contractual obligations:

The Group’s activities are highly cash generative allowing it to effectively service working capital requirements and meet its
interest payments. As at 30 September 2020 the Group held total cash and cash equivalents of £94.9m, short-term investments
“of £20:0m and net debt'of £806.8i with access to an, tndrawn £150m RCF faciity.

The following tables detail the Grbup'.s remaining contractual maturities for undiscounted financial liabilities, including interest.
The contractual maturity is based on the earliest date on which the Group may be réquired tosettle.

Total
More than contractual
) Effective Within -1»y_q§r 1to 2 years 2to 5-y_qgr§ 5 years amount
Tnterest rate . 000 £000 £000 £000 £000

At 30 September 2020
Trade payables. 18,692 - - - 18,092
Lease liabilities 5,469 3,049 8,222 16,346 33,086
Borrowings 5.32% 49,074 49,074 1,069,006 - 1,167,154
Totat 72635 52,123 1,077,228 16,346 1,218,332
Total
‘Morethan  contractual
Effective Withintyear 1to2years 2to5years 5 years amount
interest rate £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Trade payables 10,642 - - - 10,642
Lease liabilities 4,326 4,633 12,587 22,997 44 543
‘Bofrowings, 588% 48,828 48,862 146,721 ‘985,797 1,230,208
Total 63,796 53,495 159,308 1,008,794 1,286,393

Treasury and capital risk management

The Group's policy is to actively manage its cash aid capital Striictire to ensure that it cotaplies with its'parefit foan agreements,
and minimises the Group’s interest payments by paying down its debt where possible. Management will consider the use of
excess cash, including the payment of special dividends to shareholders and merger and acquisition activity, based on the risks

continue to monitor the efficiency of the capital structure on an ongoing basis.

The Grotip capital strictiite s as follows:

2020 2019

£m £m

Equity 4,586 ) ‘4625
Loans and borrowings (922) (909)
‘Cash-and-cash-equivalents 115 ’ 100
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Zephyr Midco 2 Limited

Notes to the consolidated fi nancnal statements (continued)
For the year ended 30 September 2020

24. Financial instruments (continued) o .

Cross-currency interest rate swaps

It is the policy of the Group to enterinto cross-currency interest rate swaps to manage the foreign currency risk assouated with
the extemal Euro loan held at the Group.

In the current year, the Group has the intention to mitigate the cumrency risk and interest risk of rtsl EUR loan of €400 million,
which has Euro as its functional currency. The Group’s policy has been reviewed and, due to the increased volatility in Euro, it
was decided to enter €80 million for cross-currency interest rate swaps to mitigate the risks arising on translation of the Euro
loan. Upon the maturity of the swap contract, the Group has the option to enter into a new contract. Derivatives are classified as.
Level 2 financial instruments.

The following tables detait the cross-currency interest rate swaps at the end of the reporting period. Cross-currency interest rate
swaps contract assets and liabilities are presented in the line ‘Derivative financial instruments’ (either as asset or as liabilities)
within the statement of financial position:

Cross-currency Notionat Notional Rate received Rate paid Maturity date Fair value of the
interest swaps principal: principal: derivative
Foreign Local instrument
currency currency assets/
(liabilities)
€'000 £'000 £000 £'000
At 30 September
2020
Swap 1 40,000 34,064 EURIBOR + LIBOR + 23 Jan 2023 2,245
3.50% 3.94%
Swap 2 40,000 33,252 EURIBOR + LIBOR + 23 Jan 2023 3,196
3.50% 3.86%

25, Subsequent events
Ravensworth disposal

On 4 November 2020, an asset purchase agreement was signed by one of the Group's subsidiaries, Zoopla Limited, the
immediate parent company of Ravensworth Printing Services Limited, for the sale of Ravensworth Printing Services Limited
assets to The Print Group Limited. The completion date of the sale was 30 November 2020.

Ravensworth Printing Services Limited revenue and comprehensive loss for the year end 30 September 2020 were as follows,
£2.4m (2019: £4.2m) and £1.3m (2019 £0.5m) respectively.

The Group has impaired £3.5m of acquired intangible asset related to Ravensworth customer relationships and brand in the year
ended 30 September 2020.

The intangible assets held within Ravensworth Printing Services Limited totalling £0.4m were fully impaired during the year ended
30 September 2020.
Group restructuring

In August 2020, a Group parent company, Zephyr Holdco 2, Ltd sought to amend an existing investors agreement dated July
2018. The updated New Investors Agreement, would provide a related party with additional interest (after restructuring the Group
for tax purposes) in the Group's business in return for providing additional expertise and guidance over the property side of the
Group’s business being operated by ZPG Limited.
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Zephyr Midco 2 Limited.

The ultimate controlling party of the Group-is still deemed to be Silver Lake (Offshore) AlV GP V Ltd. Additionally, the Group is
‘changing their financial year end date from 30 September to 31 Becember from 31 December 2020.

Acquisition

On 21 December 2020, one of the Group's -subsidiaries, Hometrack Data Systems Limited, -MMeted its-acquisition-of EDM-
Group’s Decision Automation Mortgage Lender solutions business(acquiring the entire issued share capital of EDM MSL Limited)
for consideration of £41 million.

26. Ultimate controlling party

The direct parent of the Company is Zephyr Midco 1 Limited which is a company registered in England and Wales at The
Cooperage, 5 Copper Row, London. The smallest and largest consolidated group financial statements are of which Zephyr
Midco 2 is a part are Zephyr Luxco S.a.r.l. The consolidated financial statement of Zephyr Luxco S.a.rl can be obtained from 2,
‘rue Edward Steichen;L-2640 Luxenibourg: The ultimate controlling party ‘of the Company is Silver L:ake {Offshore) AlV-GPV
i,
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Zephyr Midco 2 Limited

Company statement of financial posutlon
As at 30 September 2020 -

2020 . 2019

£000 £000
Assets ’ '
Non-current assets -
Investments in subsidiaries : o ’ . e 1,719,800 1,719,800
Total assets ’ - ) 1,719,800 1,719,800
Equity
Share capital 1,719,800 1,719,800
Total equity - 1,719,800 1,719,800

'The Company reported a profit for the year ended 30 September 2020 of £nil.

The financial statements of Zephyr Midco 2 Limited (company number 11346641) were approved and authorised for issue
by the Board of Directors on 23 December 2020 and were signed on its behalf by:

Charles Bryant
Director
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Zephyr Midco 2 Limited

Company statement of changes in equity

For the year ended 30 September 2020

Share

“Total

"Rétiined

capital eamings equity

£000 £000 £000

‘At 1°October 2019 1,719,800 = 1,718,860
Profit and total comprehensive income for

the period - - -

Shares.issued- - - -

-At:30 September 2020 1,739,800 - 1,719,800

Share Retained Total

capital eamings equity

£000 £000 £000

" At 4-May 2018 . - R
Profit and total comprehensive income for

the period - - -

-Shares issued 1,719,800 - 1,719.800.

At .30 September 2019. 4,719,800. - 4,719,800
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Zephyr Midco 2 Limited

Notes to the Company financial statements
For the year ended 30 September 2020

1. Accounting policies and basis of accounting

The financial statements of Zephyr Midco 2 Limited (the Company) have been prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting
Standard 101, ‘Reduced Disclosure Framework’ (FRS 101). The financial statements have been prepared under the historicai
cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of land and buildings and derivative financial assets and financial liabilities
measured at fair value through profit or loss, and in accordance with the Companies Act 2006.

Fhe Company is a private company limited by shares incorporated in the United Kingdom under the Companies Act 2006 and
is registered in England and Wales. The address of the Company’s registered office is shown on page 17.

The Company'’s principal activity is to act as an investment holding company that provides management services to its
subsidiaries. "

As pemmitted by FRS 101, the Company has taken advantage of the disclosure exemptions available under that standard in
relation to share-based payment, financial instruments, presentation of a cash flow statement, standards not yet effective, and
certain related party transactions.

Where required, equivalent disclosures are given in the consolidated financial statements.

The principal accounting policies adopted are the same as those set out in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements except
as noted below.

2. Critical accounting judgements or key sources of estimation uncertainty

There were no critical accounting judgements that would have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the parent
company financial statements or key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date that would have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

3. Profit for the period

As pemitted by s408 of the Companies Act 2006, no separate profit and loss account or statement of comprehensive income is
presented in respect of the parent company. The profit attributable to the Company is disclosed in the footnote to the Company’s
balance sheet.

The auditor's remuneration for audit and other services is disclosed in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Company had no employees during the year (2019: no employees).

4. Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are valued at cost less any provision for impairment. Further information about subsidiaries, including
disciosures about non-controlling interests, is provided in note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

5. Share capital

The movements on these items are disclosed in note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.

6. Subsequent events

Group restructuring

In August 2020, a Group parent company, Zephyr Holdco 2, Ltd sought to amend an existing investor§ agreement dated July
2018. The updated New Investors Agreement, would provide a related party with additional interest (after restructuring the Group

for tax purposes) in Group’s business in retum for providing additional expertise and guidance over the property side of the
Group’s business being operated by ZPG Limited.

The ultimate controlling party of the Group is still deemed to be Silver Lake (Offshore) AIV GP V Ltd.
7. Ultimate controlling party

The direct parent of the Company is Zephyr Midco 1 Limited. The ultimate controliing party of the Company is Silver Lake
(Offshore) AIV GP V Ltd.
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